The Senate

Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee

Additional estimates 2018–19, including final report into the performance of Airservices Australia

© Commonwealth of Australia 2019

ISBN 978-1-76010-938-7

This document was prepared by the Senate Standing Committee on Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport and printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Department of the Senate, Parliament House, Canberra.

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License.



The details of this licence are available on the Creative Commons website: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/.

Membership of the committee

Members

Senator Barry O'Sullivan, Chair Senator Glenn Sterle, Deputy Chair Senator Slade Brockman Senator Malarndirri McCarthy Senator the Hon James McGrath Senator Janet Rice Queensland, NATS Western Australia, ALP Western Australia, LP Northern Territory, ALP Queensland, LP Victoria, AG

Senators in attendance

Senator Carol Brown

Senator Patrick Dodson

Senator Mehreen Faruqi

Senator Alex Gallacher

Senator Sarah Hanson-Young

Senator Chris Ketter

Senator Sue Lines

Senator Deborah O'Neill

Senator Rex Patrick

Senator Dean Smith

Senator Tim Storer

Senator Larissa Waters

Senator Peter Whish-Wilson

Senator John Williams

Secretariat

Dr Jane Thomson, Secretary Mr Michael Fisher, A/g Research Officer Ms Michelle Macarthur-King, Administrative Officer

PO Box 6100 Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600 Ph: 02 6277 3511

Fax: 02 6277 5811

E-mail: rrat.sen@aph.gov.au

Internet: www.aph.gov.au/senate_rrat

Table of contents

Membership of the Committee	iii
Chapter 1	
Introduction	
Additional estimates hearings	
Questions on notice and Hansard transcript	
Record of proceedings	
Answers to questions on notice – Supplementary Budget Estimates 2018–19	92
Note on references	3
Chapter 2	5
Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities portfolio	
Infrastructure Australia	
Australian Rail Track Corporation	6
Inland Rail and Rail Policy Division	6
Infrastructure and Project Financing Agency	7
Infrastructure Investment Division	7
Regional Development and Local Government Division	8
Surface Transport Policy Division	8
Australian Maritime Safety Authority	9
Airservices Australia	9
Final report on the performance of Airservices Australia	10
Cities Division	10
Civil Aviation Safety Authority	11
Chapter 3	13
Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio	13
Corporate Matters	13
Outcome Two	14
Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences	15
Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority	15
Australian Fisheries Management Authority	15
Regional Investment Corporation	16

Outcome One	16
Cotton Research and Development Corporation	17
Chapter 4	19
Cross-portfolio Murray-Darling Basin Plan matters	19
Water reform funding	19
Royal Commissioner's report	19
Progress towards targets	20
Water buybacks	20
Metering	20
Consultation with community	21
Chapter 5	23
Inquiry into the Performance of Airservices Australia	23
Background	23
Initiation of inquiry	25
Issues raised during the inquiry	26
Engagement with the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO)	29
Committee comment	34
Air Traffic Control	37
The Accelerate program	40
Ongoing issues at Airservices	46
Committee comment	50
Appendix 1	53
Documents tabled	53
Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities portfolio	53
Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio	53
Appendix 2	55
Additional Information received	
Infrastructure and Regional Development portfolio	55
Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio	
Cross Portfolio Murray Darling Basin Plan Matters	55
Annondiy 3	57

Australian	National	Audit	Office	(ANAO)	Report	No.	1,	2016–17 –
Recommen	dations	•••••	••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	57
Appendix 4	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	59
Submission	s received.	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	59
Appendix 5	••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	61
Public hear	ings and w	itnesses	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	61
Friday, 28	Novembei	2014	•••••			•••••		61
Tuesday,	18 August 2	2015	•••••	•••••		•••••		61
Wednesda	ay, 9 Septer	mber 201	15			•••••		61
Wednesda	ay, 9 Augus	t 2017	•••••			•••••		61
Tuesday,	4 Decembe	r 2018	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••		•••••		61

Chapter 1

Introduction

- 1.1 On 14 February 2019, the Senate referred the following documents to the Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee (the committee) for examination and report:
- Particulars of proposed additional expenditure in respect of the year ending on 30 June 2019 [Appropriation Bill (No. 3) 2018–19];
- Particulars of certain proposed additional expenditure in respect of the year ending on 30 June 2019 [Appropriation Bill (No. 4) 2018–19]; and
- Final Budget Outcome 2017–18.¹
- 1.2 The committee is required to examine the 2018–19 additional estimates contained in these documents in relation to the Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities portfolio and the Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio. Following examination, the committee is required to table its report on 2 April 2019.²
- 1.3 In 2014 in the 44th Parliament, the Legislation Committee self-referred an inquiry into Airservices Australia under Standing Order 25(2)(a). In the 45th Parliament, the committee re-adopted the inquiry and conducted hearings. The committee has also been monitoring the performance of Airservices through the estimates process and decided that it would be appropriate to make any final comments on the administration of Airservices in the context of an estimates report. Chapter 5 reports on the committee's inquiry into the performance of Airservices Australia.

Additional estimates hearings

- 1.4 The committee examined witnesses from the Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities portfolio on 18 and 22 February 2019, and witnesses from the Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio on 19 and 22 February 2019. In addition, the committee conducted a cross-portfolio Murray-Darling Basin Plan matters estimates hearing on 22 February 2019 in accordance with a Senate agreement of 28 November 2018.³
- 1.5 The committee heard evidence from the following senators:
- Senator the Hon Bridget McKenzie, Minister for Regional Services, Sport, Local Government and Decentralisation, representing the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport; and

¹ *Journals of the Senate*, No. 140, 14 February 2019, p. 4692.

² *Journals of the Senate*, No. 133, 29 November 2018, p. 4329.

³ *Journals of the Senate*, No. 132, 28 November 2018, p. 4287.

- Senator the Hon Richard Colbeck, Assistant Minister for Agriculture and Water Resources, representing the Minister for Agriculture and Water Resources.
- 1.6 Evidence was also provided by:
- Dr Steven Kennedy, Secretary of the Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities;
- Mr Daryl Quinlivan, Secretary of the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources;
- Mr Phillip Glyde, Chief Executive of the Murray-Darling Basin Authority;
- Ms Jody Swirepik, Commonwealth Environmental Water Holder; and
- officers representing the departments and agencies covered by the estimates before the committee.
- 1.7 The committee thanks the Ministers, departmental secretaries and officers for their assistance and cooperation during the hearings.

Questions on notice and Hansard transcript

- 1.8 In accordance with standing order 26(9)(a), the committee set 29 March 2019, as the date for the return of written answers or additional information, in response to questions placed on notice during the hearings.
- 1.9 Written answers and information provided to the committee in response to questions on notice arising from the hearings are tabled in the Senate and posted on the committee's webpage. Links to the Hansard transcripts of these public hearings, and to answers and additional information are also available on the committee webpage at: https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Senate_Estimates/rrat.

Record of proceedings

1.10 This report does not attempt to analyse the evidence presented during the hearings. However, it does provide a summary of some of the key issues that were covered by the committee for each portfolio.

Answers to questions on notice – Supplementary Budget Estimates 2018–19

- 1.11 The committee undertook supplementary budget estimates hearings on 22 and 23 October 2018 for the Infrastructure and Regional Development portfolio and the Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio. On 26 October 2018, the committee examined cross-portfolio Murray-Darling Basin Plan matters. The committee set 7 December 2018 as the deadline for return of answers to questions on notice.
- 1.12 The Infrastructure and Regional Development portfolio took 172 questions on notice. The Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio took 159 questions on notice. The Environment and Energy portfolio took 5 questions on notice.

Timeliness of answers to questions on notice

- 1.13 The Infrastructure and Regional Development portfolio submitted 154 responses to questions by the deadline. The remaining answers were received gradually throughout December 2018 and until 4 February 2019.
- 1.14 The Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio submitted all responses by the deadline.
- 1.15 The Environment and Energy portfolio submitted all responses to questions by the deadline.

Note on references

1.16 References to the Hansard transcript are to the proof Hansard; page numbers may vary between the proof and the official Hansard transcripts.

Chapter 2

Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities portfolio

- 2.1 This chapter outlines some of the key issues discussed during the hearing for the Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities portfolio on 18 and 22 February 2019.
- 2.2 The committee heard from divisions of the Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities (the department) and portfolio agencies on 18 February 2019 in the following order:
- Infrastructure Australia;
- Australian Rail Track Corporation;
- Inland Rail and Rail Policy Division;
- Infrastructure and Project Financing Agency;
- Infrastructure Investment Division;
- Regional Development and Local Government Division;
- Surface Transport Policy Division;
- Australian Maritime Safety Authority;
- Airservices Australia; and
- Cities Division.
- 2.3 The following agencies and divisions were released during the course of the hearing without providing evidence:
- Aviation and Airports Division; and
- Civil Aviation Safety Authority.
- 2.4 The committee heard from the Civil Aviation Safety Authority on 22 February 2019.

Infrastructure Australia

- 2.5 The committee sought information from Infrastructure Australia (IA) on the following projects and business cases:
- Globelink:
- Albany Ring Road;
- Ellenbrook Rail Line;
- North East Link:
- Iron Road Project;
- Tanami Road:
- Outback Way;

- Melbourne Airport Rail Link;
- Melbourne Metro 2.0; and
- Melbourne Outer Metropolitan Ring Road.¹
- 2.6 The committee sought information on the National Electric Vehicle Fast Charging Network. It was informed that the network of charging electric vehicle stations will follow the National Land Transport Network. Infrastructure Australia indicated that over time, stations will be made available in regional areas.

Australian Rail Track Corporation

- 2.7 The committee raised concerns regarding the consultation process and eventual adoption of the Gilmours Road Option B plan for the Burroway to Curban section of the Inland Rail. Officials confirmed to the committee that the plan was preferred over other options for reasons including reduced cost and transit time. It was also acknowledged that the plan was agreed to, despite the views of approximately 350 landowners, who raised concerns with it at community consultation sessions.²
- 2.8 The committee requested that the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport and Regional Development consider instructing the Australian Rail Track Corporation (ARTC) to revisit the other options, including those favoured by local communities.³
- 2.9 The committee also questioned the consultation process for the North East Rail Line project. The ARTC confirmed that community consultation sessions had taken place both before and after the review of the scope of works was prepared and that track work had commenced.⁴

Inland Rail and Rail Policy Division

- 2.10 The committee heard that the following projects are being funded as part of the National Rail Program:
- Melbourne Airport Rail Link;
- Monash rail planning and preconstruction;
- Frankston to Baxter rail upgrade;
- Gold Coast Light Rail;
- Beerburrum to Nambour line;
- Western Sydney North South Rail business case;
- Gawler rail line and electrification; and
- Metronet.

¹ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 4–25.

² *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 29–34.

³ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 48.

⁴ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 36.

- 2.11 In total, of the \$10 billion allocated to the National Rail Program, \$4.9 billion was allocated to these projects from the budget, with an additional \$112 million allocated after the budget to the Gold Coast Light Rail.⁵
- 2.12 The committee also sought information on efforts to address possible skilled labour shortages in the rail sector. Officials assured the committee that they are currently engaged in a range of activities to address the shortage, including vocational training, in collaboration with the Department of Education and Training.⁶

Infrastructure and Project Financing Agency

- 2.13 The Infrastructure and Project Financing Agency (IPFA) updated the committee on funding arrangements for a number of City Deals including Townsville, Launceston, Geelong and Darwin. During questioning about the Darwin City Deal, IPFA indicated that the deal may be funded in part by the government with other funding being provided by the Northern Australia Infrastructure Facility.⁷
- 2.14 The committee sought information on IPFA's advice to the department regarding procurement models and delivery approaches with regard to both the Melbourne Airport Rail Link and the North East Link. Departmental officials indicated that the department had not yet fully engaged IPFA to provide advice on these projects.⁸

Infrastructure Investment Division

- 2.15 The committee received updates on a number of infrastructure projects, including:
- Marion Road, South Australia;
- Bridgewater Bridge, Tasmania;
- Roads of Strategic Importance in Tasmania;
- Hobart Airport interchange;
- Bribie Island Road upgrade project;
- North East link;
- Princes Highway.
- Waurn Pond duplication.⁹
- 2.16 The committee discussed a range of Urban Congestion Fund projects. It was informed that \$30 million had been committed to address Victorian urban congestion,

⁵ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 51–52.

⁶ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 52–53.

⁷ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 55–58.

⁸ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 58–59.

⁹ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 64–74.

although specific detail with regard to upgrades and changes to ease congestion are still being considered. 10

Regional Development and Local Government Division

- 2.17 The committee focussed its attention on the administration of various grants and programs including the Community Development Grants program, the Stronger Communities Fund, the Regional Growth Fund and Financial Assistance Grants.
- 2.18 The Regional Development and Local Government Division (RDLGD) confirmed that \$992,000 for Round 3 of the Stronger Communities Fund had been left unspent from a budgeted \$22.5 million. The officers explained that this was due to a number of factors including projects not being lodged on time, projects not meeting the program guidelines, and certain electorates not having money committed in the first place. ¹¹
- 2.19 The committee also discussed decentralisation. Senator Bridget McKenzie, Minister for Regional Services, Sport, Local Government and Decentralisation confirmed that 1,229 positions had been relocated to regional areas since the policy began in 2017. The majority of these positions have been relocated to Gosford, Western Sydney and Adelaide. 12

Surface Transport Policy Division

- 2.20 The committee asked the Surface Transport Policy Division (STP) about progress towards achieving the National Road Safety Strategy targets. The division confirmed that no state or territory was on track to achieve the targets of a 30 per cent reduction in fatalities and a 30 per cent reduction in serious injuries. ¹³
- 2.21 The Austroads Safety Task Force project, established to measure non-fatal crash outcomes, commenced in November 2015. Stage 1 of the project was a pilot which commenced in November 2015 and has concluded. Officials informed the committee that the purpose of the pilot was to match data on hospital deaths with crash data.¹⁴
- 2.22 The committee heard that as the current Road Safety Strategy expires at the end of 2020, the next National Road Safety Strategy is currently being developed. The new strategy will run for 10 years from 2021. 15
- 2.23 The committee sought information on acoustic vehicle altering systems following the publication of a study by Vision Australia and Monash University. The study revealed that the risk of incidents between people who are blind or have low

¹⁰ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 82–83.

¹¹ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 93.

¹² *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 111.

¹³ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 96–97.

¹⁴ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 96–97.

¹⁵ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 99.

vision with electric and hybrid vehicles is likely to increase unless measure are taken to protect them on the roads. However, the department confirmed that there are no current plans to create Australian Design Rules (ADR) to address this risk.¹⁶

Australian Maritime Safety Authority

- 2.24 During the hearing with the Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA), the committee focused its attentions on Marine Order 504 (Certificates of operation and operational requirements—national law) 2018. Under the national law, for voyages of less than 12 hours, a vessel master must ensure that 'at least 1 head count is conducted of all passengers on board the vessel' and to 'know the number of passengers on the vessel at all times'.
- 2.25 Drawing on a coroner's report into a death at sea in October 2014, the committee questioned the efficacy of the headcount requirement. The committee also sought clarification as to the decision making process within AMSA not to proceed with preparing a brief of evidence for the Director of Public Prosecutions in regard to the 2014 tragedy. ¹⁷
- 2.26 The concerns of the committee were heightened during the evidence of AMSA. Following a private meeting, the Chair made a statement on behalf of the committee. He indicated that the committee had agreed to conduct an inquiry into the performance of AMSA, with particular focus on the issues raised during the estimates hearing, as part of its oversight responsibilities.¹⁸

Airservices Australia

- 2.27 During estimates, the committee focussed its questioning of Airservices Australia on the issue of aviation rescue and firefighting. In particular, the committee sought an update on progress towards implementing the recommendations of Coroner Greg Cavanagh to strengthen operational procedures and training protocols following a crash involving an Airservices fire truck in 2015.
- 2.28 Mr Glenn Wood, Chief Fire Officer, Aviation Rescue Fire Fighting Services, advised the committee that all of the recommendations made by Coroner Greg Cavanagh have been implemented with one exception. He noted that the lighting upgrade on the large vehicles is due to be completed within months.¹⁹
- 2.29 Mr Wood also informed the committee that at present, aviation firefighters are not allowed to train with ladders of over two metres. He explained the risks of falling off a ladder and noted that Airservices had examined the matter and determined to take steps to restrict its firefighters from climbing up ladders greater than two metres in training. Mr Wood clarified that firefighters were still able to practice the necessary skills while Airservices formed a working group to consider an improved way to work

¹⁶ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 126–127.

¹⁷ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 116–117.

¹⁸ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 125.

¹⁹ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 131.

with ladders. He further noted that staff can still use ladders in an operational context.²⁰

Final report on the performance of Airservices Australia

- 2.30 In the 44th Parliament, the Legislation Committee self-referred an inquiry into Airservices Australia under Standing Order 25(2)(a). In the 45th Parliament, the committee re-adopted the inquiry.
- 2.31 The committee held a number of hearings on 28 November 2014, 18 August 2015, 9 September 2015, 9 August 2017 and 4 December 2018. The committee also raised issues with Airservices through the estimates process each year from 2014 and took submissions.
- 2.32 A final report in relation to the committee's inquiry into the performance of Airservices is provided in Chapter 5.

Cities Division

2.33 The committee received an update on a number of existing and progressing city deals including the Darwin, Perth and Western Sydney city deals.

Darwin City Deal

- 2.34 An implementation plan for the Darwin City Deal was signed on 16 November 2018 and it was agreed to make the plan public within three to six months. The implementation board has met since and is proceeding with the plan. The board expects to make the plan public within the set timeframe.²¹
- 2.35 The new education and civic precinct of Darwin will receive \$97.3 million. The department is currently working with the Northern Territory government and Charles Darwin University to determine funding arrangements and the timeline for the delivery of the project.²²
- 2.36 The department is currently in discussions with the Department of Defence and the Larrakia people about the Stokes Hill site and proposed development of the harbour foreshore. The Department of Defence has indicated that it will take two to three years to complete the necessary cultural and heritage reviews and investigation into potential contamination from a nearby naval fuel facility. The Larrakia Development Corporation has submitted a business case to develop the area.²³

²⁰ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, pp. 135–136.

²¹ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 143.

²² *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 144.

²³ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 145.

Perth City Deal

2.37 The Perth City Deal Memorandum of Understanding has been signed with meetings planned with the Western Australian government to consider matters including the scope of the deal and timeline for implementation.²⁴

Western Sydney City Deal

- 2.38 The implementation plan for the Western Sydney City Deal was published in December 2018. The Commonwealth government committed \$125 million to the City Deal.²⁵
- 2.39 In early January, the Commonwealth, state and local governments announced the Liveability Program which will provide a range of projects in each of eight local government areas to provide urban amenity. The committee heard that under the program, each council has access to \$18.75 million in funding.²⁶

Civil Aviation Safety Authority

- 2.40 Mr Shane Carmody, Chief Executive Officer of the Civil Aviation and Safety Authority (CASA), read a short opening statement. Mr Carmody expressed the view that significant progress had been made with the Civil Aviation Safety Regulations. The regulations are now 95 per cent complete with just three more to be finalised before the program is completed.²⁷
- 2.41 Mr Carmody also updated the committee on the developments with regard to drone registration. In accordance with the recommendations of the Senate References Committee report into the regulation of remotely piloted aircraft, CASA is conducting a consultation on the registration of drones. This consultation also includes an online education course and has so far received over 4,100 responses.²⁸
- 2.42 The committee sought information on regulations affecting community service flights. Mr Carmody informed the committee that the regulations had been changed to require pilots to have 400 hours of experience with 25 hours in command. CASA officials acknowledged that this is at the lower end of similar regulations worldwide and would have little effect on community service operators. However, it brings the Australian standard closer to similar operations including those in the United States.²⁹

²⁴ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 147.

²⁵ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 148.

²⁶ *Proof Hansard*, 18 February 2019, p. 149.

²⁷ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 80.

²⁸ Proof Hansard, 22 February 2019, p.80.

²⁹ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 84.

Chapter 3

Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio

- 3.1 This chapter considers the key issues discussed during the hearing for the Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio on 19 February 2019.
- 3.2 The committee heard from divisions of the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources (the department) and portfolio agencies in the following order:
 - Department of Agriculture and Water Resources Corporate Matters (finance and business support, corporate strategy and governance, business branch, information services, assurance and legal);
 - Department of Agriculture and Water Resources Outcome Two (exports division, live animal exports, biosecurity policy and implementation, biosecurity animal division, biosecurity plant division);
 - Australian Bureau of Agriculture and Resource Economics and Sciences;
 - Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority;
 - Australian Fisheries Management Authority;
 - Regional Investment Corporation; and
 - Department of Agriculture and Water Resources Outcome One (rural policy and farm performance, AGVET chemicals, fisheries and forestry, agricultural policy, trade and market access, sustainable agriculture, fisheries and forestry).
- 3.3 The following agencies and divisions were released during the course of the hearing without providing evidence:
 - Animal Health Australia; and
 - Plant Health Australia.

Corporate Matters

- 3.4 Mr Daryl Quinlivan, Secretary of the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources (DAWR), read a short statement regarding the ongoing drought on the east coast and the recent floods in Far North Queensland. Mr Quinlivan noted that the value of agricultural production rose to over \$60 billion in 2016–17 and has stayed consistent since that time, despite poor seasons. However, he also warned that the ongoing hardships faced by farmers will reduce agricultural production in 2018–19.
- 3.5 Mr Quinlivan informed the committee that preliminary forecasts from the Australian Bureau of Agriculture and Resource Economics and Sciences (ABARES) indicate that there will be a four per cent decline in the gross value of farm production, to \$57 billion due to the ongoing hardships.¹

¹ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, p. 5.

- 3.6 The committee received an update on a number of matters before the Agricultural Ministers Forum, including:
- The Intergovernmental Agreement on National Drought Program Reform;
- Intergovernmental Agreement on Biosecurity;
- Farm debt mediation; and
- A national governance model for farm animal welfare standards.²

Outcome Two

- 3.7 The committee sought clarification on the proposed biosecurity imports levy which will come into effect from 1 July 2019. Under the proposal, a levy would be imposed on all containerised and non-containerised cargo imported to Australia by sea, with the exception of military equipment.
- 3.8 The department informed the committee that it had consulted with 95 industry organisations. It acknowledged that the majority of feedback about the levy was negative and that many stakeholders questioning the decision to introduce a levy. Officials also acknowledged that there was contention about how the levy would be imposed, and the mechanism by which it is going to apply.³
- 3.9 The committee expressed a number of concerns about the levy and its impact on the end consumer. The committee also questioned the imposition of the levy on products for which there are no biosecurity concerns, such as cement, petroleum and fertiliser. It was informed that the focus was not simply on the imported commodity but also on the way in which the product comes into the country. The department acknowledged, however, that much of the impact of the levy will be passed onto the end consumer of the product.
- 3.10 The committee also sought clarification on the nature of the department's involvement with the *Review of the Regulatory Capability and Culture of the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources in the Regulation of Live Animal Exports* conducted by Mr Philip Moss AM.
- 3.11 Mr Quinlivan addressed commentary and press reports that the department 'interfered in the preparation of Philip Moss's review'. He stated that such reports were false. He further noted that Mr Moss had publicly indicated that the assertion the department had unduly influenced his report was not true. Furthermore, Mr Moss had made the point that he had 'provided working drafts to the department for procedural fairness and accuracy' and that 'successive drafts show a strengthening of the report's conclusions and recommendations'.⁶

² *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 9–10.

³ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 22–25

⁴ Proof Hansard, 19 February 2019, p. 24.

⁵ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 22–25.

⁶ Proof Hansard, 19 February 2019, p. 34.

Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences

- 3.12 The committee sought an estimate of the impact of the recent floods in North Queensland on agricultural production and rural exports. It was informed that an estimate had yet to be calculated, but that stock losses alone were expected to be in the hundreds of thousands.
- 3.13 The department explained that information on the impact of the floods was being provided from a range of sources including AgForce and local councils. It noted that the Queensland department was the central agency, responsible for collecting information from these sources.⁷

Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority

- 3.14 Dr Chris Parker, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA), delivered an opening statement which provided information on the agency's key activities since the supplementary budget estimates round. He noted that in 2018, APVMA finalised around 3,500 applications for chemical actives, products and permits.⁸
- 3.15 Dr Parker indicated that work on the new Armidale office had remained on schedule with the agency expecting to occupy the building by mid–2019. He noted that at 31 January 2019, there were 72 staff members in Armidale and 133 staff in Canberra. Dr Parker explained that he expected an additional 18 staff to commence work in Armidale by the end of March; by which time there would be a total of 39 regulatory scientists engaged in Armidale. Dr Parker indicated that the plan was to have a total of 40 staff in Canberra, comprising a mix of experienced scientists and decision makers.
- 3.16 The committee sought information on the retention bonus and excess employees. Dr Parker informed the committee that the retention bonus amounted to 10 per cent of an employee's wage and will be paid on 30 June 2019. He also indicated that approximately 50 employees, unable to relocate to Armidale and ineligible for a position in Canberra, were notified that they were excess to requirements on 1 February 2019. Dr Parker noted that half of the employees that received notices were expected to take voluntary redundancies, at a total cost of approximately \$1.5 million. In the committee of the retention bonus and excess employees are considered to the paid on 30 June 2019. He also indicated that approximately 50 employees, unable to relocate to Armidale and ineligible for a position in Canberra, were notified that they were excess to requirements on 1 February 2019. The parker noted that half of the employees that received notices were expected to take voluntary redundancies, at a total cost of approximately \$1.5 million.

Australian Fisheries Management Authority

3.17 The committee sought information on approaches from fishing companies regarding access to Australia's exclusive economic zone (EEZ). The committee questioned whether Australian companies had brought in foreign vessels to assist in

⁷ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 65–67.

⁸ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, p. 71.

⁹ Proof Hansard, 19 February 2019, p. 72.

¹⁰ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 75–76.

¹¹ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 75–81.

catching underutilised fish quotas. The department confirmed there had been no approvals for any such arrangements. 12

Regional Investment Corporation

- 3.18 Mr Bruce King, CEO of the Regional Investment Corporation (RIC), delivered an opening statement which summarised the agency's key activities since the supplementary budget estimates round.
- 3.19 In December, RIC moved into its new head office in Orange. It has funding for 32 employees and following a recruitment process, for which it received 340 job applications, a total of 16 employees were recruited. While most staff members will be based in Orange, others will work from other regional communities, such as Wagga Wagga, on flexible working arrangements. ¹³
- 3.20 Mr King also informed the committee that RIC is on track to deliver \$235 million in loans this financial year to over 250 applicants. The majority of these loans are to assist with recovery from drought. Of them, 69 per cent of the applicants are from New South Wales and Queensland.¹⁴
- 3.21 Questions were also asked about concessional loans for flood recovery in Far North Queensland. RIC officers confirmed that there are products available that would suit affected landowners, but they had not received many applications. This is because many people are still assessing their losses and are accessing emergency assistance rather than loans. It is expected there will be more applications in the coming months. ¹⁵

Outcome One

- 3.22 The committee sought information regarding evokeAG, an international agrifood technology event held in Melbourne in February 2019. The department confirmed that it had provided over \$150,000 in sponsorship for the event and was an event strategic partner. ¹⁶
- 3.23 The committee also canvassed the subject of pilot hubs under the National Forestry Industries Plan. The government has committed \$12.5 million over four years to the establishment of nine forestry hubs around the country and to research and development under the plan. The department explained that the hubs had been chosen after consultation with industry and state governments. The four pilot hubs will receive \$1 million in total funding during year one. The remaining \$11.5 million will be spent on setting up the additional five hubs as well as on research and development.¹⁷

¹² *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 95–96.

¹³ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 102–103.

¹⁴ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, p. 103.

¹⁵ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, p. 104.

¹⁶ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 107–108.

¹⁷ *Proof Hansard*, 19 February 2019, pp. 108–110.

Cotton Research and Development Corporation

- 3.24 Dr Ian Taylor, Acting Executive Director of the Cotton Research and Development Corporation (CRDC), read an opening statement. Dr Taylor indicated that it has been a tough season for cotton growers with total planting at approximately 60 percent of the average cotton crop. ¹⁸
- 3.25 Dr Taylor also reiterated the CRDR's commitment to sustainability and more efficient water use. He drew particular attention to the Smarter Irrigation Project involving 3,000 irrigators as an example. The project has found that participating growers could achieve a 10 to 20 per cent improvement in productivity through adoption of new irrigation technologies.¹⁹
- 3.26 The committee focussed its questioning around flood plain harvesting and the claim of 20 per cent efficiency. The CRDC indicated that it uses an index called the 'gross production water use efficiency'. This index takes into account water from rainfall, irrigation water and water in the soil at the beginning of the season. However, there is no definitive measurement of floodplain harvesting water currently in use. The point was made that this was due to CRDC's primary focus on how the water is applied to the crop rather than how it is gathered. ²⁰

¹⁸ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 72.

¹⁹ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 73.

²⁰ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, pp. 74–75.

Chapter 4

Cross-portfolio Murray-Darling Basin Plan matters

- 4.1 This chapter highlights some of the key issues discussed during the hearing on cross-portfolio Murray-Darling Basin Plan matters on 22 February 2019.
- 4.2 The committee heard from the Water Division of the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, the Murray-Darling Basin Authority, the Regional Development and Local Government Division (Dams Policy) of the Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, as well as the Commonwealth Environmental Water Holder and the Commonwealth Environmental Water Office.

Water reform funding

- 4.3 The Murray-Darling Basin Authority (MDBA) provided the committee with details about the total amount of water reform funding. Over the 12-year period from 2012 to 2024, approximately \$15.6 billion has been allocated for water reform activities. Over \$13 billion of that total amount has been allocated for activities in the Murray-Darling Basin.¹
- 4.4 Programs included in the overall figure include:
- National urban water and desalination plan;
- Sustainable rural water use and infrastructure program;
- Water purchase and water recovery; and the
- Restoring the balance in the Murray-Darling Basin program.²

Royal Commissioner's report

- 4.5 The final report of the South Australian Murray-Darling Basin Royal Commission was released at the end of January 2019.
- 4.6 The Department of Agriculture and Water Resources (DAWR) noted the claims in the report and stated that it was satisfied that the Basin Plain is 'lawful and that the Basin Plan was developed consistently with the requirements of the Water Act'. Similarly, Mr Phillip Glyde, Chief Executive of the MDBA, assured the committee that the MDBA had carefully considered the allegations contained in the commissioner's report and provided a comprehensive response. Mr Glyde explained that the view of the MDBA was that the commissioner's report failed to provide clear evidence to support the allegations.³

¹ Proof Hansard, 22 February 2019, p. 6.

² Proof Hansard, 22 February 2019, p. 6.

³ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p.18.

Progress towards targets

4.7 The MDBA informed the committee that the water recovery task is near completion. While noting that the process has gone well, the MDBA acknowledged that implementation of the Sustainable Diversion Limit (SDL) adjustment measures programs, as well as changes to the infrastructure and rules, was behind schedule by up to three years. Noting that the timeline to completion by 2024 was very ambitious, My Glyde indicated that it would take a redoubling of efforts from the MDBA and governments to achieve the targets.⁴

Water buybacks

- 4.8 The committee also canvassed the topic of potential water buybacks. It was informed that the Commonwealth Environmental Water Holder currently has \$18 million in funds to put towards the temporary purchase of water and other uses. However, it was noted that, due to factors including small water holdings in the north, it would not be possible to get sufficient water. This is because there are not sufficient holdings or enough sellers willing to put their holdings on the market.⁵
- 4.9 The MDBA also responded to the recommendation of the Royal Commission to abolish the cap on water buybacks. The MDBA acknowledged that the research suggests the cheapest way to recover environmental water is to buy it. However, there is a wider impact to consider which goes beyond the cost to the Australian taxpayer. Mr Glyde noted that the consequences of large, sudden, overnight buybacks can actually result in greater expenses.⁶

Metering

- 4.10 The committee sought information on metering arrangements across the Murray-Darling Basin. The MDBA updated the committee on the rollout of metering in New South Wales. The current rollout is focused on prioritised areas in the northern basin. When complete, the New South Wales government will have access to water usage information across areas of farming, irrigation and dam-making. The committee questioned why this information was only to be made available to the government and would not be made public.⁷
- 4.11 The MDBD also gave information on current metering numbers. The numbers of metres by state are as follows:
- New South Wales 12,855 of which 5,005 are for ground water and 7,850 for surface water:
- Queensland 400 surface water metres;
- Victoria 32,515;

⁴ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 25.

⁵ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 30.

⁶ Proof Hansard, 22 February 2019, p. 38.

⁷ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, pp. 44–45.

- South Australia 14,000 (statewide, not broken down to the basin); and
- Australian Capital Territory 337.
- 4.12 Under the New South Wales metering program, the objective is to meter 95 per cent of the volume of water that is extracted from the river. This equates to around half of the meters or metering points, indicating that there are some very large users.⁸

Consultation with community

- 4.13 The committee expressed an interest in the consultation processes of the government, DAWR and MDBA. The MDBA and DAWR could not confirm if the responsible Minister was planning to visit the Menindee Lakes region. It was noted, however, that the Deputy Prime Minister had visited the area.⁹
- 4.14 The committee expressed concern about a lack of consultation sessions being held in Bourke and Brewarrina. In particular, the point was made that, as many members of these communities were not able to travel to other consultation sessions, there was a risk they would not be heard. The MDBA indicated that it has begun a pilot program whereby it has employed seven Regional Engagement Officers from local communities to act as consultants for the agency. The areas currently serviced include:
- The Barwon-Darling;
- The Goulburn-Murray;
- The Lower Balonne;
- The Lower Murray;
- The Macintyre;
- The Mid-Murray; and
- The Namoi. 10
- 4.15 Funding has been re-committed to maintain these arrangements. The MDBA is also currently in negotiations to add an officer in the Central Darling Shire to represent the interests of the Menindee area. 11

⁸ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 47

⁹ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, pp. 54–56.

¹⁰ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, pp. 63–64.

¹¹ *Proof Hansard*, 22 February 2019, p. 64.

Chapter 5

Inquiry into the Performance of Airservices Australia

Background

5.1 The following report relates to an inquiry undertaken by the Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee (the committee) under Senate Standing Order 25(2)(a) into the performance of Airservices Australia.

Airservices Australia

- 5.2 Airservices Australia (Airservices) is a government-owned statutory authority. It was formed in July 1995 when the Civil Aviation Authority was split into two separate government bodies Airservices and the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA). The functions of Airservices are outlined in the *Air Services Act 1995* and include the provision of air navigation services, aeronautical information, aviation communications, radio navigation aids and aviation rescue firefighting services. ¹
- 5.3 Airservices is responsible for the management and monitoring of Australian airspace an area which covers approximately 20 million square nautical miles and amounts to eleven per cent of the world's total airspace.² The area includes the airspace over continental Australia and its territorial waters and the international airspace boundaries over both the Pacific and Indian Oceans. Airservices also manages:
- upper-level airspace (above 30,000 feet) under contract to the neighbouring Pacific Island Flight Information Regions of the Solomon Islands and Nauru; and
- lower-level airspace at five airports in the Pacific Ocean region, for the United States Federal Aviation Administration.³
- 5.4 Each year, Airservices manages air traffic operations for more than four million domestic and international flights, which carry approximately 63 million passengers. The aviation industry relies on Airservices' provision of aeronautical data, telecommunications and navigation services.⁴
- 5.5 Airservices operates across 600 sites and has approximately 3000 employees including 900 air traffic controllers working in major centres in Melbourne and

Airservices Australia, http://www.airservicesaustralia.com/about/ (accessed 30 January 2019) and Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, https://www.airservicesaustralia.com/about/ (accessed 30 January 2019) and Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, https://www.airservicesaustralia.com/about/ (accessed 30 January 2019) and Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, https://www.airservicesaustralia.com/about/ (accessed 30 January 2019) and Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, https://www.airservicesaustralia.com/about/ (accessed 30 January 2019) and Department Plan, July 2017, p. 3.

² Sir Angus Houston, Airservices Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 9 September 2015, p. 4.

Regional Aviation Association of Australia, Airservices, https://raaa.com.au/member/airservices/ (accessed 31 January 2019).

⁴ Regional Aviation Association of Australia, Airservices, https://raaa.com.au/member/airservices/ (accessed 31 January 2019).

Brisbane and in 26 control towers located at both regional and international airports. The organisation also provides aviation rescue and firefighting services at 19 of Australia's busiest airports – where there are more than 350,000 passenger movements a year.⁵

- 5.6 Airservices is a government owned statutory authority, which is fully funded by revenue from industry, under a five-year pricing agreement. Airservices charges airlines and aircraft operators for use of its enroute, terminal navigation and aviation rescue and firefighting services. The level of Airservices' charges are based on five year forecasts prepared by the organisation in relation to activity levels (including traffic volumes), operating costs and capital expenditure.⁶
- 5.7 The priorities for Airservices as outlined by the Minister for Infrastructure and Transport (on behalf of the Commonwealth) are set out in a Statement of Expectations (SOE). Central to these expectations is that Airservices make the safety of air navigation its top priority. As outlined in the SOE, the Government also requires Airservices to:
- progress the implementation of a new national air traffic system;
- work with the Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities (the Department), CASA and the Department of Defence (Defence) in providing advice on options for enhancing the level of safety and efficiency of Australian controlled airspace, including at major regional airports;
- work with the Department and CASA in modernising airspace protection policy;
- assist in implementing the Government's environmental objectives; and
- undertake effective and ongoing engagement and consultation with the community, industry and government on the development and implementation of any significant changes to air traffic services.⁷
- 5.8 As a corporate Commonwealth entity, Airservices is responsible for the development and implementation of its own procurement policies and procedures which are expected to meet general obligations regarding the proper use of resources and effective internal controls.⁸

6 Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 15.

⁵ Regional Aviation Association of Australia, Airservices, https://raaa.com.au/member/airservices/ (accessed 31 January 2019).

Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, *Australia's Air Traffic Management Plan*, July 2017, pp 3–4.

⁸ Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 20.

Department of Defence⁹

- 5.9 As Australia's other Air Navigation Service Provider (ANSP), Defence works collaboratively with Airservices to achieve major reforms. The organisations also work together in the area of airspace design and in developing procedures which strengthen and support a harmonised approach to Air Traffic Management (ATM).
- 5.10 Defence, through the Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF), provides air navigation services and infrastructure, as well as air traffic services and rescue and firefighting services at military air bases. Defence also maintains a fleet of aircraft which is of comparable size to civil national carriers.
- 5.11 Defence, together with Airservices, manage required military airspace to meet operational and national security requirements, while at the same time servicing the transit of civilian aircraft safely and efficiently. Defence provides air traffic services for civil aircraft transiting military controlled airspace and restricted areas surrounding all airbases, as well as controlling all aircraft joint-user airports at Darwin and Townsville. It also facilitates civil aviation at the RAAF Base, Williamtown.
- 5.12 Over recent years, the Australian Defence Force (ADF) has undertaken a significant modernisation of its piloted and unpiloted aircraft fleet. This has been supported by investment in its ATM platforms, which is predicted to lead to significantly greater capability, endurance and range than the ADF currently possesses. It is also envisaged that this investment will facilitate the many military activities which require the integration of multiple high-cost, low endurance aircraft into Australian airspace.

Initiation of inquiry

Airservices' appearance at Supplementary Budget Estimates 2014–15

- 5.13 In October 2014, the committee held hearings in relation to Supplementary Budget Estimates for 2014–15. Representatives from Airservices attended the hearing held on Monday, 20 October 2014 and were asked questions about a number of issues, including:
- the risk assessment undertaken by Airservices when seeking a dispensation from CASA from the requirements of the Aeronautical Information Package (AIP) (in order to nominate arrivals into Melbourne runways that exceed 20 knots or 5 knots downwind);
- answers provided to questions on notice put by Senator Nick Xenophon during 2014–15 Budget Estimates (held in May 2014) regarding the Severity Definition Airways System (SDAS), including the categorisation of the severity of an incident, and the independent assessment of the classification of an incident;

⁹ This section is based on information contained in Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, *Australia's Air Traffic Management Plan*, July 2017, pp 3–4.

- \$96.3 million of expenditure on regional airports from Port Hedland through to Coffs Harbour, Ballina, Gladstone and Newman which was not referred to the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public Works (Public Works Committee);
- an Airservices employee's reported credit card misuse, the employee's dismissal, and subsequent actions taken by Airservices' management;
- Airservices' discussions with the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA) regarding a non-directional landing approach at Rockhampton Airport and the generation of an airspace change proposal (ACP). ¹⁰
- 5.14 At a private meeting held on 29 October 2014, the committee discussed Airservices' appearance at the Supplementary Budget Estimates hearing, including members' concerns about the responses provided to the committee's questioning. The committee agreed to call Airservices to a public hearing to further examine the operations of the agency.

Inquiry under Senate Standing Order 25(2)(a)

- 5.15 As Airservices is a corporate entity, the committee is empowered, under Senate Standing Order 25(2)(a), to inquire into, and report upon the performance of departments and agencies allocated to it. It is under this power that the committee, in 2014 (during the 44th Parliament) initiated its inquiry into the performance of Airservices. The inquiry was subsequently re-adopted in the 45th Parliament.
- 5.16 The inquiry involved five public hearings. The first was held in Canberra on 28 November 2014, with subsequent hearings, also held in Canberra, on 18 August 2015, 9 September 2015, 9 August 2017 and 4 December 2018. Between 2014 and 2019, the committee also received private briefings, held in-camera hearings in relation to its inquiry, and continued its examination of the issues through the Senate Estimates process. A list of those who gave evidence at the public hearings is included in Appendix 5.
- 5.17 The committee also received four public submissions as part of its inquiry, a list of which is included in Appendix 4.

Issues raised during the inquiry

- 5.18 The committee's concerns regarding the probity of Airservices are long-standing. The committee has, for example, long held concerns about the organisation's administration and governance of corporate credit cards. Over the years, the committee has also raised its concerns about the bonuses awarded to senior executives (including termination payments). While some of these matters were explored during this inquiry, the key issues of concern were:
- probity in relation to Airservices' procurement processes, including the initial engagement and retention of the Centre for Complex Project Management

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee, Supplementary Budget Estimates 2014–15, *Committee Hansard*, 20 October 2014, pp 202–208.

- (ICCPM) as a consultant to the OneSKY project for the duration of the tender evaluation process;
- the impact of the new Accelerate operating model on the Airservices workforce, the safety of Australia's passenger aircraft and the safety of air traffic control and aviation rescue firefighting operations; and
- the mandate for the implementation of the Automatic Dependent Surveillance Broadcast (ADS-B) system.

OneSKY Project

- 5.19 The management of air traffic in Australia is the responsibility of several government agencies and the aviation industry. Airservices uses The Australian Advanced Air Traffic Management System (TAAATS) to provide civilian airspace management, while Defence through the RAAF manages military operations and air traffic control.
- 5.20 In December 2009, the National Aviation White Paper, noted that Airservices and Defence were both due to undergo major equipment upgrades and replacement programs (from 2013). The White Paper described these circumstances as an ideal opportunity to synchronise the ATM capability (to support the requirements of both Airservices and Defence), and argued that:

Enhanced civil and military ATM system harmonisation will produce benefits in terms of improved safety, better investment in personnel and infrastructure, seamless systems compatibility and smarter procurement practices. ¹¹

- 5.21 The OneSKY program involves the replacement of Australia's ATM system, under a three year transitional arrangement, proposed to commence from 2018. The process requires the integration of 16 different systems, and delivery of the joint service commenced in 2010 when Airservices put a 'request for information' to the market. The feedback and information provided by the market was used to develop the Request for Tender (RFT). As the lead agency, Airservices was responsible for coordinating the joint procurement of a fully integrated Civil Military Air Traffic Management System (CMATS). The RFT for the joint procurement was released in June 2013, and closed on 30 October 2013, having received six tenders.
- 5.22 In February 2015, the announcement was made that Airservices, in partnership with Defence, would enter into an Advanced Work contracting

Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government, *National Aviation Policy White Paper*, December 2009, p. 122.

¹² Mr Jason Harfield, Airservices Australia, Committee Hansard, 18 August 2015, p. 8.

arrangement with Thales Australia to deliver OneSKY. The then Acting CEO of Airservices, Mr Jason Harfield, noted at the time: 14

The new system, when completed in 2021 will allow us to provide operational efficiency improvements for future growth and ensure we are meeting the demands of our customers and delivering them value for money.¹⁵

ICCPM

- 5.23 ICCPM is an unlisted, non-profit public company limited by guarantee under the *Corporations Act 2001*. The company's objective is to facilitate the management and delivery of complex projects around the world. Early in its operation, ICCPM was largely reliant on annual fees paid by its funding partners including the Defence Materiel Organisation (DMO) and the Thales Group, Boeing, Lockheed Martin and BAE Systems Australia. The latter four organisations all responded to the RFT in relation to CMATS. ¹⁶
- 5.24 In September 2010, in order to be eligible for representation in advisory groups, Airservices became an ICCPM corporate partner. Under a corporate partnership agreement, Airservices pays ICCPM an annual membership fee which in 2016–17 was \$50.000. 17

Issues raised by the committee

- 5.25 During the inquiry, the committee raised its concerns about the RFT process particularly the decision to award the contract to the Thales Group. The committee raised specific concerns about probity in relation to Airservices' procurement processes, including the initial engagement and retention of ICCPM as a consultant to the OneSKY project for the duration of the tender evaluation process.
- 5.26 The committee also raised concerns about Airservices' management of conflict of interest matters with regard to the procurement of services via ICCPM. Of particular concern was the engagement of a member of the ICCPM Board, Mr Harry Bradford. Mr Bradford undertook the role of lead negotiator during the contract negotiations with the successful tenderer Thales whose Managing Director was

15 Airservices Australia, *OneSKY Australia – one step closer*, Media Release, 25 February 2016.

The Hon. Warren Truss, MP, Minister for Infrastructure and Regional Development and the Hon. Kevin Andrews, MP, Minister for Defence, Joint Media Release, *Australia's One SKY:* the most advanced, integrated air traffic control system in the world, 27 February 2015.

¹⁴ Mr Harfield was subsequently appointed CEO on 9 March 2016.

Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016–17, August 2016, pp 22–23.

¹⁷ Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 24.

also Chair of the ICCPM Board at the time. The committee was told during the inquiry that the contracting rate for Mr Bradford as lead negotiator was "about a million dollars" but that Airservices was "getting value for money" given the negotiating rates for the size of contracts. ¹⁸

5.27 The committee also raised questions about perceived conflict of interest issues in relation to an Airservices executive – Mr Stephen Hein – who left his position as the CEO of ICCPM in June 2014 and was replaced in this role by his spouse – Ms Deborah Hein. Thereafter, when acting as Airservices' Executive General Manager of Future Service Delivery, Mr Hein recommended approval of a substantial extension to a contracting arrangement with ICCPM. ¹⁹ The quote had been provided by Ms Hein in her capacity as CEO of ICCPM.

Engagement with the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO)

- 5.28 On 20 August 2015, following its second hearing with Airservices, the committee wrote to the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) to raise its concerns about the administration of corporate governance within Airservices. Following discussions, and correspondence with the committee, the ANAO initiated two performance audits in relation to the matters raised.
- 5.29 The ANAO's first performance audit report (ANAO Report No. 1 2016–17) was tabled in August 2016. The objective of the first audit was to examine whether Airservices had effective procurement arrangements in place, "with a particular emphasis on whether consultancy contracts entered into with the International Centre for Complex Project Management (ICCPM) in association with the OneSKY Australia program were effectively administered". ²⁰

Airservices' procurement governance framework

5.30 During the period reviewed by the ANAO -2012 to the end of 2015 - a procurement governance framework was in place at Airservices. The ANAO found however, that this framework did not:

Mr Jason Harfield informed the committee that the executive signed off an approval 'that went to the chief executive to sign off the contractual arrangements and payments for services rendered', *Committee Hansard*, 18 August 2015, p. 3. The ANAO provided further detail in relation to this matter in *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program*, *ANAO Report No. 1*, 2016 –17, August 2016, p. 65.

-

¹⁸ Mr Jason Harfield, Airservices Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 18 August 2015, p. 7.

²⁰ Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17, August 2016, p. 7.

- address Airservices entering into strategic partnerships and alliances; ²¹ or
- adequately contemplate, or regulate, non-competitive approaches being adopted for procurement with a value of \$50,000 or more. 22
- 5.31 In May 2013, Airservices and ICCPM entered into a strategic partnership for the duration of the OneSKY program. It was noted that the partnership was commenced without any approach to the market (to identify other possible strategic partners) and it was one for which:
- no business case had been prepared;
- no performance indicators had been established (to enable monitoring and evaluation);
- there was no documentation regarding the nature of services Airservices intended to obtain from or through ICCPM; and
- there was no documentation regarding expected costs, or how Airservices would satisfy that sole sourcing consulting assistance (from or through ICCPM) would provide value for money.²³
- 5.32 The ANAO noted that it was common for Airservices to use the relationship with ICCPM to engage individuals to undertake particular roles, and highlighted Airservices' extensive use of ICCPM to assist with the delivery of OneSKY:

Since 2012, there were 42 engagements of ICCPM employees and sub-contractors through 18 procurement processes. The engagements were given effect through six contracts, 10 contract variations and four uses of an on-call services schedule under one of the contracts. Under the various contractual arrangements, Airservices agreed to pay ICCPM total fees of more than \$9 million.²⁴

5.33 The ANAO observed that Airservices' approach to its own procurement policies and procedures was to regularly depart from them for various ICCPM procurements. It was noted that internal controls intended to promote compliance were

22 Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17, August 2016, p. 8.

_

²¹ In response to an internal audit conducted in 2009, Airservices had agreed to develop a considered approach to managing strategic partnerships. However, a draft management instruction which had been approved on 1 July 2010 by the then acting CEO was not issued. Airservices informed the ANAO that it could not locate any documentation which would explain why the instruction had not been issued.

Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17, August 2016, p. 26.

²⁴ Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 8.

regularly bypassed and even when they were applied, they tended to be ineffective. Further, the ANAO noted that often the records kept by Airservices (in relation to procurement decisions) were perfunctory.

- 5.34 Airservices' approach to contracting ICCPM was also found to be ineffective in providing value for money outcomes. The ANAO described Airservices as price takers: noting that the organisation accepted quotes from ICCPM without comparing proposed rates to similar services, or actively negotiating reduced rates. The ANAO reported that Airservices' approach to recording decisions to spend money, and the bypassing of internal controls also contributed to a "lack of transparency over the decisions to procure services from, or through ICCPM". 25
- 5.35 The ANAO reported that between 2012–13²⁶ and December 2015, Airservices paid ICCPM a total of \$5.8 million in consultancy fees and expenses. Between 2012–13 and 2014–15, the payments from Airservices amounted to 75 per cent of the revenue reported by ICCPM as derived from consulting work.²⁷

Allens Probity Review

- 5.36 The committee also raised specific concerns about probity arrangements (in relation to the OneSKY program) during a hearing held in August 2015. Following the August hearing, the Airservices Board commissioned an external review of these probity arrangements. The review was undertaken by legal firm Allens Linklaters (Allens). Allens provided the Airservices Board with a draft report on 9 September 2015, and a final report on 27 October 2015.
- 5.37 Airservices Board Chair, Sir Angus Houston, told the committee at a hearing held on 9 September 2015, that the Allens draft report contained three key findings:
- the probity framework for the OneSKY procurement process was adequate, robust, sound and consistent with market practice;
- there is a possible perception of conflict which requires additional management, but this possible perception did not have any actual effect on the tender process (including the evaluation of tenders and selection of a preferred tenderer); and
- there is no evidence that the issues raised by the Senate resulted in any improper influence, bias, favour or breach of confidence or any incompatibility between duties to the program and the personal and financial interest of those involved.²⁸

²⁵ Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17*, August 2016, p. 9.

^{26 2012–13} was when Airservices started obtaining consulting services through ICCPM.

²⁷ Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, pp. 22–23.

²⁸ Sir Angus Houston, Airservices Australia, Committee Hansard, 9 September 2015, p. 4.

ANAO findings – Airservices' probity management framework

- 5.38 Airservices' procurement framework requires that probity be a key consideration. This includes the requirement to effectively identify and manage potential, actual or perceived conflicts of interest.
- 5.39 The ANAO's investigation found that the probity plan and protocols established by Airservices for the CMATS joint procurement process, together with the engagement of an external probity advisor and external probity consultant, provided a "reasonable basis for managing the probity aspects of the tender process". Airservices did not, however, commission independent probity audits of any phase of the tender process following the release of the RFT.²⁹

ANAO findings – probity management in engaging ICCPM and its subcontractors

5.40 The ANAO also found that in its decision to enter into a strategic relationship with ICCPM (for the duration of the OneSKY program or in relation to any of the 18 sole-sourced procurements that occurred prior, and subsequent to the establishment of the relationship) Airservices did not address matters of probity. Further:

...on no occasion was there documented consideration as to whether the engagement would give rise to potential actual or perceived conflicts of interest that should either be avoided (by not proceeding with the procurement) or for which a specific management strategy could be established.³⁰

ANAO's findings related to Allens report

- 5.41 The ANAO's initial audit also found that Airservices had not provided all material (relevant to its relationship with ICCPM) to Allens. It was noted that Airservices had failed to provide Allens with:
- advice or documentation regarding the May 2013 decision to establish a strategic partnership with ICCPM for the duration of the OneSKY program; and
- documentation concerning the role played by ICCPM sub-contractors in the evaluation and contract negotiation processes.³¹

30 Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17, August 2016, p. 10.

²⁹ Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 9.

Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 16.

- 5.42 It was also found that:
- in conducting its review Allens did not engage with ICCPM; and
- the review did not address the question of advice provided to the Airservices Board of any conflict of interest matters caused by ICCPM's involvement in the OneSKY project.³²
- 5.43 The ANAO's first report, published in August 2016, contained six recommendations which were all agreed to by Airservices. A complete list of the ANAO's recommendations are included at Appendix 3.

Airservices' response

- 5.44 In its response to the ANAO's initial report, Airservices acknowledged that improvements could be made to its procurement framework. The organisation accepted the ANAO's findings, and initiated actions to address each of its recommendations. At the same time, Airservices indicated that it still had significant concerns about commentary in the report (regarding the management of probity in relation to the overall OneSKY tender process) which could lead the reader to draw conclusions about the integrity of the process, which were not supported by evidence.³³
- 5.45 Airservices argued that the tender evaluation arrangements that were in place were robust, and denied any suggestion that "perceived conflicts of interest at any stage created, or had the potential to create, an actual conflict of interest that could adversely impact the integrity of the OneSKY tender process". 34
- 5.46 The ANAO's second performance audit report (ANAO Report No. 46 2016–17) was tabled in April 2017. The objective of the second audit was to assess whether the OneSKY tender was conducted "so as to provide value with public resources and achieve required timeframes for the effective replacement of the existing air traffic management platforms". 35
- 5.47 The committee's concerns about probity (in relation to the involvement of ICCPM contractors in the tender evaluation and contract negotiation process) were considered by the ANAO, which found that:

32 Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 17.

Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17, August 2016, p. 12.

34 Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016–17, August 2016, p. 12.

Australian National Audit Office, *Conduct of the OneSKY Tender, ANAO Report No. 46 2016-17*, April 2017, p. 17.

Airservices did not apply any consideration to potential actual or perceived conflict of interest matters in deciding to engage the Lead and Deputy Lead Negotiator via ICCPM. Actual or perceived conflicts of interest could have been effectively contemplated and managed had Airservices combined competitively tendering these two long-term, high cost roles with active consideration of any conflicts as part of the procurement process. Airservices also did not consider conflict of interest matters before the Lead and Deputy Lead Negotiator became involved in the evaluation of tenders ahead of the contract negotiation phase of the tender process. These were significant failings by Airservices. ³⁶

5.48 The committee's concerns in relation to Mr Hein's recommendation (approving a substantial extension to a contracting arrangement with ICCPM) and the perceived conflict of interest, were also addressed by the ANAO. The ANAO found that Mr Hein signed a memo recommending that the Airservices' CEO approve the contracting via ICCPM of the lead and deputy lead negotiations for a further eight months at a total expected cost of \$1.247 million, which the Airservices' CEO approved on 6 October 2014.

Airservices' response

5.49 Airservices accepted the findings of the ANAO's 2017 report into the conduct of the OneSKY tender, noting its conclusion that the tender process "was appropriate for the scale, scope and risk of the project". Airservices also stated, however that:

With any complex procurement of this scale and scope, there will always be some potential improvements that, with hindsight, can be identified and we acknowledge and accept these and we will incorporate them in our future operations.³⁷

Committee comment

5.50 The committee notes that its concerns about probity (in relation to the involvement of ICCPM contractors in the tender evaluation and contract negotiation process) were considered by the ANAO. The committee notes the ANAO's finding that any actual or perceived conflicts of interest could have been more appropriately managed by Airservices.

5.51 The committee is also pleased to note that the ANAO's investigation highlighted the problems that can arise from a situation whereby sub-contactors (with links to tenderers) became involved in the evaluation of competing tenderers. The committee is of the view that Airservices should be more aware of the attendant

Australian National Audit Office, Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016–17, August 2016, p. 69.

Airservices Australia, *Airservices statement to ANAO Report on the conduct of the OneSKY*Tender, 10 April 2017, http://newsroom.airservicesaustralia.com/news/airservices-statement-to-anao-report-on-the-conduct-of-the-onesky-tender (accessed, 22 March 2019).

probity risks which can arise in these circumstances.³⁸ The committee is also of the view that Airservices needs to actively engage in future processes to ensure that attention is drawn to potential conflicts of interest and they are dealt with in a consistent manner.

5.52 The committee is pleased to note that, in its response to the ANAO's initial report, Airservices did acknowledge that improvements could be made in relation to its procurement framework. The committee is also of the view that Airservices' acceptance of the ANAO's findings, and the fact that it has initiated actions to address each of the ANAO's recommendations, reflects positively on the organisation.

Structural reform and privatisation

Productivity Commission report

- 5.53 In a report published in 2014, the Productivity Commission noted that governments had "successfully privatised airports, major ports and electricity infrastructure and services" and recommended that the Government determine whether there are net benefits to privatising organisations such as the Australian Rail Track Corporation (ARTC), Snowy Hydro and Airservices.³⁹
- 5.54 The Government's response to the Productivity Commission's report indicated that it supported, in principle, the privatisation of public assets, particularly when it results in increased economic efficiency and better services for the community. The Government also noted that it would be giving consideration to the sale of Commonwealth-owned assets including public infrastructure assets. 40

Department of Finance – Functional and Efficiency Review

- 5.55 During the Senate's Budget Estimates held in May 2016 the committee was told that the Department of Finance's Functional and Efficiency review undertaken by KPMG had been completed in February 2016.
- 5.56 Mr Mike Mrdak, Secretary of the then Department of Infrastructure, informed the committee that the review had identified areas where the Government could consider major structural changes, including in relation to Airservices. The committee was told that the review had looked at international examples where governments had placed their air traffic control provider (and air services provider) in different governance structures. Mr Mrdak noted, for example, that in the United Kingdom and

Australian National Audit Office, *Procurement of the International Centre for Complex Project Management to Assist on the OneSKY Australia Program, ANAO Report No. 1, 2016 –17,* August 2016, p. 10.

³⁹ Productivity Commission, *Public Infrastructure, Productivity Commission Inquiry Report Vol.* 1, No. 71, 27 May 2014, p. 18, https://www.pc.gov.au/data/assets/pdf file/0003/137280/infrastructure-volume1.pdf (accessed 21 March 2019).

⁴⁰ Australian Government Response – Productivity Commission Inquiry Report into Public Infrastructure, 2014, p. 5.

Canada these providers had been placed in either 'part-private ownership' or within a 'not-for-profit government agency' structure.⁴¹

Australian Aviation Associations' Forum

5.57 In late April 2016, the Australian Aviation Associations' Forum (TAAAF) – chaired by former Airservices Chief Executive Officer, Mr Greg Russell – called for the privatisation of Airservices. TAAAF argued that Airservices' partially corporatised model, which had operated for approximately 20 years, had become increasingly "incapable of delivering efficient and affordable air traffic services in a growing aviation market". TAAAF also argued that the move to privatise Airservices could raise as much as \$1 billion, and that a model similar to the not-for-profit one used in Canada would make air traffic control more efficient. 43

Aircraft Owners and Pilots Association of Australia

5.58 In April 2016, the Aircraft Owners and Pilots Association of Australia (AOPA) expressed similar views, and suggested that Airservices was underperforming and should be privatised. AOPA argued that the proceeds from the sale of Airservices should be used to set up an industry trust fund to finance new technology and university research and development. It was also argued that the privatisation of Airservices would improve productivity and provide capital to invest in the General Aviation industry – while at the same time helping to reduce the budget deficit.

Community and Public Sector Union

5.59 In contrast, the Deputy National President of the Community and Public Sector Union (CPSU), argued that the job losses and restructures at Airservices could be seen as a possible precursor to privatisation.⁴⁶ The CPSU urged the Government to rule out privatising Airservices, and noted that given there is no competitive market for air traffic control services:

...Airservices Australia is a natural monopoly providing a public good and there is no business incentive to improve services. The privatisation of such

43 Sydney Morning Herald, *Aviation industry players call for \$1b privatisation of Airservices Australia*, 28 April 2016, https://www.smh.com.au/business/companies/aviation-industry-players-call-for-1b-privatisation-of-airservices-australia-20160428-gogqsc.html (accessed 21 March 2019).

Mr Mike Mrdak, Department of Infrastructure, Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee, *Estimates Hansard*, 5 May 2016, p. 106.

⁴² Australian Aviation Associations Forum, Aviation Policy 2016, p. 9.

⁴⁴ Aircraft Owners and Pilots Association of Australia, *Project Eureka: A Brief to Government to Revitalise the General Aviation Industry in Australia*, April 2016, p. 7.

⁴⁵ Aircraft Owners and Pilots Association of Australia, *Project Eureka: A Brief to Government to Revitalise the General Aviation Industry in Australia*, April 2016, p. 12.

⁴⁶ Canberra Times, Staff at Airservices Australia fight for 600 voluntary redundancies in major restructure, 4 July 2016, https://www.smh.com.au/public-service/staff-at-airservices-australia-fight-for-600-voluntary-redundancies-in-major-restructure-20160704-gpy9uk.html (accessed 21 March 2019).

an essential public service is not in the public interest and should be opposed.⁴⁷

Air Traffic Control

Land and Hold Short Operations

- 5.60 The committee examined issues around the Land and Hold Short Operations (LAHSO) being used at Melbourne, Darwin and Adelaide airports. LAHSO involves the simultaneous use of two crossing runways in situations where the runway intersection is a long distance from the landing threshold such that pilots are able to ensure they can 'hold short' of the crossing runway when landing. The procedure is only available to operators who have provided specific training to pilots and received authorisation from CASA.⁴⁸
- 5.61 The committee raised concerns about a specific incident that occurred at Melbourne Airport on 5 July 2015. 49 Shortly after one aircraft commenced take-off, two other aircraft conducted simultaneous missed approach/go arounds, during a night LAHSO operation. 50
- 5.62 Shortly after the incident, Airservices conducted a review of LAHSO and issued 'minor improvements to the procedure'. ⁵¹ After a number of delays, the ATSB's final report in relation to the incident AO-2015-084 was released on 6 August 2018. The ATSB found that:

...since 2011, Airservices Australia had been aware of the hazard associated with the inability to separate aircraft that were below the appropriate lowest safe altitude at night but had not adequately mitigated it. This resulted in a situation where, in the event of a simultaneous go-around at night during LAHSO at Melbourne Airport, there was no safe option available for air traffic controllers to establish a separation standard and to ensure a mid-air collision did not occur when aircraft were below minimum vector altitude. Though Airservices Australia had implemented a number of preventative controls prior to this occurrence in response to concerns

Airservices Australia, Answers to Questions Taken on Notice from 28 November 2014 hearing, Question No. 16, received 12 December 2014.

Australian Transport Safety Bureau, *Unsafe proximity and radar vector below minimum vector altitude involving two Boeing 737-800s, VH-VXS and VH-VYE, Melbourne Airport, Victoria, 5 July 2015, Australian Transport Safety Bureau,*https://www.atsb.gov.au/publications/investigation_reports/2015/aair/ao-2015-084/ (accessed 22 March 2019).

Committee Correspondence from Mr Alistair Waters, National President, Community and Public Sector Union, received 15 December 2016, pp 4–5.

⁴⁹ Airservices Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 9 September 2015, pp. 16 and 18.

Airservices Australia, Changes to AIP Land and Hold Short Operations (LAHSO)', Safety Bulletin, 23 October 2015, http://www.airservicesaustralia.com/wp-content/uploads/SB23October2015-LAHSO-AIP-Changes.pdf (accessed 22 March 2019).

expressed by the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA), a recovery control was not implemented until 2016.

Additionally, the compromised separation recovery training provided to the air traffic controllers employed in the Melbourne ATC Tower did not include a night scenario for missed approaches during LAHSO.⁵²

5.63 As a result of the ATSB's investigation, Airservices Australia received an exemption from CASA "to radar vector aircraft below the minimum vector altitude at night at Melbourne Airport under certain conditions". Airserves also instigated a safer procedure for land and hold short arrival pairs "such that aircraft will not come into unsafe proximity in the event of a missed approach". Training in compromised separation recovery at night during LAHSO was also introduced for Melbourne ATC Tower controllers.⁵³

Automatic dependent surveillance broadcast system

- 5.64 According to Airservices, the Automatic Dependent Surveillance Broadcast (ADS-B) system involves the fitting (on-board aircraft) of electronic equipment which automatically broadcasts the precise location of the aircraft via a digital data link. The data can be used by other aircraft and air traffic control to show the aircraft's position and altitude on display screens without the need for radar. By using the system, an aircraft uses GPS to determine its position and a transmitter then broadcasts specific information to dedicated ground stations that receive the information and relay it to air traffic control for precise tracking. ⁵⁴
- 5.65 It was noted that the United States' Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) has mandated, that by 1 January 2010, aircraft must be fitted with ADS-B technology. In Australia, the mandate for all aircraft operating under Instrument Flight Rules (IFR) to be fitted with serviceable ADS-B equipment came into effect on 2 February 2017. 55
- 5.66 At an August 2015 hearing, Mr Greg Hood, Executive General Manager of Airservices, was asked about the costs of fitting aircraft with ADS-B technology. Mr Hood told the committee that the minimum cost for fitting general aviation (GA) aircraft with the new technology would be approximately \$10,000.⁵⁶

-

Australian Transport Safety Bureau, *Unsafe proximity and radar vector below minimum vector altitude involving a Boeing 777-31HER, A6-EBU, and two Boeing 737-838s, VH-VXS and VH-VYE, Melbourne Airport, Victoria, 5 July 2015,* 6 August 2018, p. ii.

Australian Transport Safety Bureau, *Unsafe proximity and radar vector below minimum vector altitude involving a Boeing 777-31HER, A6-EBU, and two Boeing 737-838s, VH-VXS and VH-VYE, Melbourne Airport, Victoria, 5 July 2015,* 6 August 2018, p. ii.

⁵⁴ Airservices Australia, *How ADS-B Works*, http://www.airservicesaustralia.com/projects/ads-b/how-ads-b-works/ (accessed 22 March 2019).

It is noted that CASA has granted authorisation to a limited number of non-equipped aircraft to fly without ADS-B under specific conditions until 2020.

Mr Greg Hood, Executive General Manager, Airservices Australia, *Committee Hansard*, 18 August 2015, p. 20.

- 5.67 In a submission to the inquiry, Mr Dick Smith raised concerns about the use of ADS-B in non-controlled airspace, and argued that there was "no present safety problem" that would require small aircraft be fitted with ADS-B technology ahead of the United States. Mr Smith also argued that if Australia headed down this path, it would likely result in economic damage to the general aviation industry. ⁵⁷
- 5.68 The issue was raised again during Senate Estimates hearings (held in May and October 2016). The committee questioned both CASA and Airservices about the mandate for implementing ADS-B technology. Specifically, questions were asked about the timing of ADS-B adoption in Australia, given that the adoption would not take place in the United States which is the market leader until at least 2020.
- 5.69 Airservices Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, argued that one of the major benefits associated with the introduction of ADS-B would be that, for the first time, there would be complete surveillance coverage across Australia.
- 5.70 The committee raised industry concerns in relation to the impact ADS-B technology would have on general aviation, and noted that the implementation of ADS-B was originally intended to achieve savings from the closure of secondary surveillance radar. Further, it was suggested to Airservices that the long delay in implementing the technology had led to some contracts having to be renewed which thereby negated the savings:

Senator Xenophon: I spoke to Dick Smith, a former Chairman of CASA, earlier today in relation to this. He expressed serious concerns about the impact on general aviation and the necessity of the rollout of ADS-B at this time. In the continental United States, which is similar but a bit bigger than Australia in terms of land mass – is that right?

Mr Harfield: It is about the same.

Senator Xenophon: It has about 600 ADS-B, compared with 70 here.

Mr Harfield: They also have 300 radars and we have 15. So there are economies of scale in how they actually run their airspace. They deal with 18 million flights a year and we deal with four million. It is a completely different premise. The ADS-B mandate that is being introduced in the United States is for IFR in the VFR aircraft, whereas here in Australia it is only for IFR aircraft. Their mandate is timed for the end of life of their radar coverage so that they do not have to replace their radars. Ours is actually increasing surveillance across the country, because we have a different need and it is a different issue we are trying to resolve.

Senator Xenophon: But, as I understand it, the ADS-B implementation was supposed to achieve savings from the closure of the secondary surveillance radar. Is that right?

Mr Harfield: Originally. The [late] mandate was to replace all the radars up and down the east coast. However, that was based on the industry – the broader aviation industry – not have to pay for the replacement of radars,

and using that money to fund the equipage of ADS-B. But industry did not agree with that, and we had a range of mandates that were agreed by industry, starting back in 2013. The first one was about all aircraft above 29,000 feet, working through to Perth and then to next year, which is all IFR aircraft.

Senator Xenophon: For whatever reason, the ADS-B implementation took too long, so instead of achieving savings from the closure of the secondary surveillance radar, Airservices had to renew the service contracts. Is that right?

Mr Harfield: Some radars. We are actually decommissioning two radars next year after the mandate for ADS-B –

Senator Xenophon: But will some contracts renew?

Mr Harfield: Some contracts renew, but we still need that surveillance coverage and we do not have ADS-B in that area because people up and down the east coast still want to use radar, and it helps supplement the surveillance coverage across the nation. ⁵⁸

The Accelerate program

5.71 As the mining boom ended, Airservices reported a plateauing of revenue, flat growth domestically, and increasing costs. Air traffic contracted during 2014–15, and this, combined with weak traffic growth in some international markets, led to Airservices' decreased profitability. Airservices told the committee that:

In the 2015 financial year, Airservices generated revenue of \$1.012 billion, and had costs of \$1.006 billion. Costs have grown faster than revenue for most of the previous ten years. Staff numbers have increased from 2996 employees in 2006 to 4468 employees in 2016, but our workforce planning has not kept pace with the changing technological environment to deliver us the capability we need into the future. We were consistently overpromising and under-delivering on our capital works program, with the gap between our promised and actual expenditure growing out to around \$100m by June 2015. ⁵⁹

5.72 Airservices acknowledged that its underperformance had been recognised by the committee, the Commission of Audit, the Productivity Commission and the Harper Review. These organisations had also raised concerns about the efficiency of the organisation's investment program, its operating efficiency and its pricing structures. Mr Harfield told the committee that Airservices was an organisation that "was doing less with more and understandably the airlines, our fee-paying customers, expected something to change". 60

⁵⁸ Mr Jason Harfield, Chief Executive Officer, Airservices Australia, *Estimates Hansard*, 17 October 2016, p. 106.

Airservices Australia, Correspondence from Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, dated 1 December 2016, [p. 1].

Airservices Australia, Correspondence from Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, dated 1 December 2016, [p. 1].

- 5.73 It was in the context of poor financial performance, that Airservices launched the Accelerate program, which commenced on 1 July 2016, The proposed program included three work streams:
- a new operating model 'with less bureaucracy and more accountability';
- project and asset refocus managing assets and projects to commercial standards; and
- technology making better use of current systems. 61
- 5.74 Airservices Chief Executive, Mr Harfield, described the Accelerate program as a "short transformation to reposition the organisation to focus on our core business of air traffic control, aviation rescue and firefighting".⁶²
- 5.75 Under the new operating model, Airservices proposed a reduction of 900 full-time equivalent staff from its 4500-strong workforce, through the use of both voluntary and involuntary redundancies.⁶³ In October 2016, Mr Harfield told the committee that of the 900 redundancies under the Accelerate program:
- 580 people left Airservices at the end of September 2016 under a voluntary redundancy process;
- 709 people were expected to leave the organisation by the end of 2016 (under the voluntary redundancy process); and
- approximately 200 staff would leave the organisation by 30 June 2017, by means of voluntary or involuntary redundancies which would reduce the total of Airservices staff by 20 per cent. ⁶⁴
- 5.76 At the time, Mr Harfield was reported as saying that the proposed job cuts would not compromise the safety of Australia's passenger aircraft, because a "detailed and rigorous assessment" had been conducted to determine any potential impact on the safety of Airservices traffic control or aviation rescue firefighting operations. He also argued that a workforce of 3600 was the appropriate capacity for the organisation to move towards. 65
- 5.77 In early July 2016, the media reported that in a letter to Airservices' staff, Mr Harfield had indicated that those working in operational roles such as air traffic control and rescue firefighting could not apply for one of the 600 redundancies on offer at the time. Reports suggested that more than 600 staff applied for the

⁶¹ Airservices Australia, 2015–16 Annual Report, p. 29.

⁶² Mr Jason Harfield, Airservices Australia, *Estimates Hansard*, 17 October 2016, p. 89.

⁶³ Australian Aviation, No plans to privatise Airservices: Minister, 2 November 2016,

⁶⁴ RAAA, transcript of address by Jason Harfield, CEO, Airservices Australia, *The new Airservices – supporting regional aviation*, p. 7, Mr Jason Harfield, Airservices Australia, *Estimates Hansard*, 17 October 2016, p. 89, and The Australian, *Airservices Australia to slash staff by 20 per cent*, 26 August 2016.

⁶⁵ The Australian, Airservices Australia to slash staff by 20 per cent, 26 August 2016.

redundancy packages, with union officials and senior Airservices management acknowledging a decline in workforce morale. 66

5.78 During an Estimates hearing held in October 2016, CASA officials confirmed that the proposed cuts to the Airservices' workforce would involve reductions in engineering and technical support services.⁶⁷ At the same time, media reports also suggested that as many as 50 jobs would be cut from the IT department as part of Airservices' cost reduction program.⁶⁸

Fair Work Commission

- 5.79 On 30 October 2016, the Community and Public Sector Union (CPSU), the Electrical Trades Union of Australia (ETU) and Professionals Australia (PA) raised concerns about the proposed cuts and requested an immediate suspension of the Accelerate program.
- 5.80 In late October 2016, the CPSU, PA and the Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Energy, Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union of Australia (CEPU, incorporating the ETU) lodged a dispute over the Accelerate program with the Fair Work Commission. The parties contended that Airservices had not complied with the consultation, redeployment and redundancy provisions of the organisation's enterprise agreement (*Airservices Australia Enterprise Agreement* 2013–2017). 69
- 5.81 Following a number of conferences between the parties, it was agreed that Airservices would, among other things:
- advertise available vacant positions to which potentially surplus employees could be redeployed;
- for a limited time, accept expressions of interest (EOI) from potentially surplus employees for the available vacant positions;
- consider potentially surplus employees who have submitted an EOI in an available vacant position for redeployment to such positions in isolation from any other applicants;

Mr Andrew Tiede, Manager, Air Navigation, Airspace and Aerodromes Branch, Civil Aviation Safety Authority, *Estimates Hansard*, 17 October 2016, p. 86.

68 itnews, *Airservices to cut 50 IT jobs*, 31 October 2016, https://www.itnews.com.au/news/airservices-to-cut-50-it-jobs-440455 (accessed 12 February 2019).

69 CPSU v Airservices Australia (C2016/6423), CEPU v Airservices Australia (C2016/6433) and Professionals Australia v Airservices Australia (C2016/6444), Fair Work Commission, Statement of 17 November 2016, p. 1.

_

Canberra Times, Staff at Airservices Australia fight for 600 voluntary redundancies in major restructure, 4 July 2016, https://www.smh.com.au/public-service/staff-at-airservices-australia-fight-for-600-voluntary-redundancies-in-major-restructure-20160704-gpy9uk.html, (accessed 19 February 2019).

- upon request from an individual employee, provide an employee with the result of Airservices' assessment of their capability;
- after the redeployment process, make offers of voluntary redundancy to any potentially surplus employees who were not redeployed to a vacant position, and who are in a class of employees considered excess to the efficient and economical working of Airservices;
- allow four weeks for an employee to make a decision on whether to accept the voluntary redundancy offer. If an offer is not accepted, termination via involuntary redundancy will occur after a specified time period; and
- consider a job swap proposed by a potentially surplus employee and another employee. ⁷⁰
- 5.82 During its inquiry, the committee sought and received submissions from a number of organisations which raised specific concerns about the Accelerate program, and the impact it could have on various aspects of aviation safety and security. These included: Civil Air Australia (Civil Air), Airservices, Australian Federation of Air Pilots (AFAP), Australian and International Pilots Association (AIPA), Electrical Trade Union (ETU), Community and Public Sector Union (CPSU) and the United Firefighters Union of Australia (UFUA). On 1 December 2016, the committee also held a private briefing with Civil Air and Airservices.

Impact of, and response to, Airservices' redundancies

Operational impacts

5.83 During the committee's inquiry, Airservices maintained that the Accelerate program would only affect back office staff and operations, and would not have a direct impact on front line air traffic controllers and aviation rescue and firefighting services.⁷¹

- 5.84 A number of stakeholder groups did, however, raise various concerns about the impact the Accelerate program would have on Airservices' employees and the organisation as a whole. Stakeholders told the committee:
- While it was proposed that staff cuts would only apply to back of house and support staff in non-safety critical areas, these supporting positions are vital to the proper functioning of air traffic control systems.
- Even though operational air traffic controllers and aviation rescue firefighters were specifically excluded from applying for voluntary redundancies, up to 25 air traffic controllers had been approved for voluntary redundancies. It was explained that while these line managers may have been performing other

Mr Jason Harfield, Airservices Australia, *Estimates Hansard*, 17 October 2016, p. 89 and Airservices Australia, correspondence from Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, dated 1 December 2016, [p. 2].

⁷⁰ CPSU v Airservices Australia (C2016/6423), CEPU v Airservices Australia (C2016/6433) and Professionals Australia v Airservices Australia (C2016/6444), Fair Work Commission, Statement of 17 November 2016, pp. 2–4.

- duties (or were on leave at the time) they still held current authorisations to operate air traffic control equipment.
- Should air traffic control units in Cairns and Adelaide be consolidated during 2017, it would result in the loss of 10 air traffic controllers in Cairns. It was argued that this negated the message that frontline operational staff would not be affected by job cuts.
- The complex ATM system requires engineering and other technical knowledge to ensure its efficient and safe operation. It was argued that Accelerate (and other cost reduction programs) could have impact a direct impact on the ability of Airservices to maintain and operate a national ATM system.
- The Accelerate program had the potential to impact frontline ATM functions. It was argued that some type of divide between regulatory functions within Airservices (such as ATM) and its commercial interests may provide a clearer focus on the provision of frontline services.
- Despite excluding 'core operational' air traffic controllers and aviation rescue firefighters from voluntary redundancies, staff cuts to 'non-core non-operational' maintenance and corporate services were significant, and ignored the fact that technical staff also service core functions, for example, keeping infrastructure up-to-date and conducting detailed analysis of data.

Safety issues

- 5.85 Stakeholder groups also raised concerns about the loss of staff with the essential specialist skills needed in the areas of air traffic control and engineering as well as technical and software areas. Stakeholders also told the committee that there was no evidence to suggest that the necessary safety risk assessments were being conducted, so it was not possible to assess the consequences of removing these skills and experience from the organisation.
- 5.86 Concerns were also raised regarding:
- the level of Airservices' consultation with stakeholders:
- reports of untrained staff being used in technical positions;
- problems with staffing projects which identify and manage safety risks; and
- reports that critical hazard alerts (based on Bureau of Meteorology warnings and known as AIRMET) had, over a three week period in November 2016, not been transmitted by Airservices to crews of affected aircraft within Australian airspace.
- 5.87 The committee followed up on stakeholders' concerns during an October 2016 Estimates hearing. The committee asked the then temporary CEO of CASA, Mr Shane

Carmody, what impact the loss of Airservices' jobs would have. Mr Carmody told the committee that it would have "no impact on aviation safety".⁷²

5.88 On 17 November 2016, however, it was revealed that at Sydney Airport – during the period between late November and early January – air traffic controllers needed to fill more than 50 additional vacancies in the roster. This included up to seven vacancies on one day in December. It was reported that:

The holes in the roster for air traffic controllers at Australia's busiest airport come after at least five line managers – four of whom were licensed to operate as air traffic controllers – took redundancy as part of 900 nationwide job cuts at Airservices...⁷³

- 5.89 Further, it was noted that the concerns raised about gaps in the roster emerged "despite Airservices' insistence for months that job cuts announced in July would not impact operationally rostered air-traffic control".⁷⁴
- 5.90 At the time, Airservices acknowledged that while some Sydney line managers had applied for and been offered voluntary redundancy, the organisation still had the capacity to manage the provision of air traffic control "with a more efficient management structure". Airservices also asserted that safe and efficient air traffic control would be maintained across the holiday period. 75
- 5.91 Airservices also refuted a number of claims about Accelerate's adverse impact on safety, service delivery and support functions. Airservices asserted that of the approximately 640 employees who had departed the organisation in 2016, almost 400 performed human resources, legal, financial and communication functions which would have no impact on safety operations. Airservices attributed the remaining departures to natural attrition in areas such as management, training design and delivery (as well as approximately 100 engineering and maintenance staff). ⁷⁶
- 5.92 Airservices maintained that redundancies were not available to operational and rostered air traffic controllers or aviation firefighters, and the committee was told

73 The Sydney Morning Herald, *Big holes in Sydney air traffic control roster threaten busy holiday travel*, 17 November 2016, https://www.smh.com.au/national/nsw/big-holes-in-sydney-air-traffic-control-roster-threaten-busy-holiday-travel-20161116-gsqaf5.html (accessed 21 February 2019).

Civil Aviation Safety Authority, Mr Shane Carmody, *Estimates Hansard*, 17 October 2016, p. 82.

⁷⁴ The Sydney Morning Herald, *Big holes in Sydney air traffic control roster threaten busy holiday travel*, 17 November 2016, https://www.smh.com.au/national/nsw/big-holes-in-sydney-air-traffic-control-roster-threaten-busy-holiday-travel-20161116-gsqaf5.html (accessed 21 February 2019).

⁷⁵ The Sydney Morning Herald, *Big holes in Sydney air traffic control roster threaten busy holiday travel*, 17 November 2016, https://www.smh.com.au/national/nsw/big-holes-in-sydney-air-traffic-control-roster-threaten-busy-holiday-travel-20161116-gsqaf5.html (accessed 21 February 2019).

Airservices Australia, Correspondence from Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, dated 1 December 2016, [pp. 1 and 3].

that approximately 100 applications from these classifications of employees had been rejected as ineligible. Airservices refuted claims that operation air traffic controllers had taken redundancies, and stated that these employees were actually line managers, with a broad range of management responsibilities, and duties were accounted for before these staff departed, "with no operational impact". 77

- 5.93 Airservices maintained that all staff changes were carefully considered to:
 - ...ensure potential safety risks were identified, understood and appropriately mitigated. This is due to the safety critical nature of our organisation. We have taken a robust and risk-based approach to staff departures and have implemented a comprehensive safety program in accordance with the requirements of our Safety Management System (SMS) that has been oversighted by CASA.
- 5.94 Airservices also implemented an Accelerate Program Safety Plan. The aim of the safety plan was to assist in safety assessments for each phase of Accelerate and to ensure that 'safety critical activities are not impacted', there are no changes to operational air traffic control or aviation firefighting roles, and the appropriate mitigation strategies are put in place to manage redundancies.⁷⁹
- 5.95 During the inquiry, Airservices provided the committee with a number of documents which outlined the organisation's commitment to staff welfare, safety and the maintenance of service delivery. The documents provided related to:
- the Accelerate Program Safety Plan;
- the Voluntary Redundancy Program Safety Case; and
- statements in relation safety and the transition to a new operating model and senior leadership structure.

Ongoing issues at Airservices

5.96 As part of its oversight of Airservices, a number of issues have been brought to the attention of the committee over recent months – specifically, issues relating to workplace culture and community consultation.

Workplace culture

5.97 In early 2019, media reports suggested that conflict between Airservices employees, had "been blamed for undermining the operation of Sydney's air traffic

Airservices Australia, Correspondence from Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, dated 1 December 2016, [p. 2].

Airservices Australia, Correspondence from Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, dated 1 December 2016, [p. 2].

Airservices Australia, Correspondence from Chief Executive Officer, Mr Jason Harfield, dated 1 December 2016, [p. 2].

control tower". 80 It was noted that in late 2018, Airservices had commissioned Converge International to do a 'workplace wellbeing assessment', following an incident in which a number of flights were cancelled at Sydney airport (because two air traffic controllers called in sick at late notice). This situation was repeated when, in January 2019, three of nine rostered controllers indicated they were unavailable for duty – which forced a slower rate of landings at the airport.

- 5.98 It was noted that the Converge International assessment had found that:
- 93 per cent of employees had experienced or observed disrespectful behaviour, including sexist and racist comments, undermining and derogatory remarks and discrimination;
- employees when asked to rank their primary issues of concern, listed the behaviour of team members first, conflict between team members second, staff turnover and then work schedules fourth; and
- the staff situation had resulted in an extended period of additional duties and staff turnover has impacted work-life balance and also negatively impacted morale.⁸¹
- 5.99 As a Commonwealth authority, Airservices is bound by various legislation, including the *Equal Employment Opportunity (Commonwealth Authorities) Act 1987* (EEO Act) as well as the *Australian Human Rights Commission Act 1986*, the *Racial Discrimination Act 1975*, and the *Sex Discrimination Act 1984*.
- 5.100 Airservices noted in its 2016–17 Annual Report that in accordance with the requirements of the EEO Act, the organisation continues to "work towards a more inclusive and diverse workforce through a range of initiatives which are implemented across the business". 82
- 5.101 Airservices' 2017–18 Annual Report noted that as part of its responsibilities under the EEO Act:
- Airservices' employees are responsible for ensuring their behaviour complies with the Airservices Code of Conduct, which sets the standard for treating staff with dignity, respect, courtesy, fairness and equity at all times; and

_

⁸⁰ The Australian, *Air traffic controllers report racism and sexism*, 19 February 2019, https://www.google.com/search?q=Air+traffic+controllers+report%5C&rlz=1C1GCEA_en&oq=Air+t&aqs=chrome.0.69i59j69i57j0l4.11996j0j8&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8 (accessed 22 March 2019).

The Australian, *Air traffic controllers report racism and sexism*, 19 February 2019, https://www.google.com/search?q=Air+traffic+controllers+report%5C&rlz=1C1GCEA_en&oq=Air+t&aqs=chrome.0.69i59j69i57j014.11996j0j8&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8 (accessed 22 March 2019).

⁸² Airservices Australia, Annual Report 2016–17, p. 105.

• Airservices' National Consultative Council provides a mechanism for ensuring ongoing dialogue with our employee organisations about specific employee-related issues. 83

Community consultation

2018 – Inquiry into the Air Services Amendment Bill 2018

- 5.102 In early 2018 the committee conducted an inquiry into the Air Services Amendment Bill 2018 (the bill).
- 5.103 The bill had two primary aims. The first was to provide a consultation and reporting structure around aircraft noise, including:
 - requirements that Airservices to consult with local communities affected by aircraft noise and to report on aircraft noise;
 - requirements that Airservices minimise the impact of aircraft operations on the human and natural environment, community amenity and residential areas:
 - the establishment of an Independent Aircraft Noise Ombudsman (ANO/Ombudsman); and
 - the establishment of an independent Community Aviation Advocate (CAA/Advocate).
- 5.104 The second aim of the bill was to require Airservices to engage with the flight paths over Melbourne Airport, and to provide for a review of flight paths. To this end, the bill sought to empower Airservices with the authority to prepare a plan for management of flight paths and air space in central Melbourne. As part of this plan, the flights of helicopters and fixed wing aircraft below 2,000m above sea level within five kilometres of central Melbourne would be prohibited, with exemptions for emergency services, hospitals, defence and related purposes.
- 5.105 The committee noted in its bill report that the management of aircraft noise is a matter of seeking to balance the needs and interests of an extensive range of parties and affected groups including:
 - pilots who want easier access to airports;
 - passengers who want shorter flights;
 - airlines which seek to minimise the levels of fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions;
 - local communities who do not want to have their health and lifestyle disrupted;
 - airports which want to maximise flight numbers;
 - local businesses which enjoy the economic benefits of local airport growth;
 and

⁸³ Airservices Australia, Annual Report 2017–18, p. 106.

- all parties who want to ensure the safety of passengers and local communities alike. 84
- 5.106 The committee tabled its report on the bill in August 2018. The committee noted at the time that while it recognised that there was significant scope for improvement in the way in which Airservices engages with affected communities:
 - ...it takes the view that the bill before it will not provide the effective consultation mechanism as envisaged. Therefore, the committee does not support the passage of this bill.⁸⁵
- 5.107 The committee's report on the bill did, however, raise its concerns about the way in which Airservices had engaged with the local community regarding Hobart flight path changes, and noted that it would:
 - ...continue to monitor the effectiveness with which Airservices engages with affected communities on aircraft noise and is more transparent with regard to proposed changes. ⁸⁶

Correspondence regarding Hobart Airport

- 5.108 One of the primary characteristics of many airports in Australia is that they operate in close proximity to residential areas. In recent times there has been considerable population growth near and around a number of Australian airports.
- 5.109 Over the years, the committee has, at various times, received complaints from members of the public about aircraft noise and its impact on local communities. The committee has often taken up these concerns and raised them directly with the relevant agencies at Senate Estimates hearings.
- 5.110 Since November 2018, the committee has received correspondence from a number of Hobart residents raising concerns about the change of flight paths into and out of Hobart Airport, which residents claim took place, unannounced, in September 2017.
- 5.111 The committee replied to this correspondence, and indicated that while it does not currently have an inquiry into these specific issues, it is:
 - ...responsible to oversight the performance of Airservices Australia. Prior to the release of the Aircraft Noise Ombudsman (ANO) investigation report into complaints about the introduction of new flight paths in Hobart, the committee was informed by Airservices Australian in October 2017 that it had not consulted local communities appropriately in Hobart.

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee, *Report on Air Services Amendment Bill 2018*, August 2018, p. 5.

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee, *Report on Air Services Amendment Bill 2018*, August 2018, p. 52.

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport Legislation Committee, *Report on Air Services Amendment Bill 2018*, August 2018, p. 52.

- 5.112 Recently, the committee also became aware of the ANO's Quarterly Report (for July–September 2018), which was published on October 2018, and which sets out the progress made by Airservices in implementing the ANO's 13 recommendations. After considering the ANO's report, and the concerns raised by members of the public about the Hobart flight path matter, the committee wrote to Airservices and requested an update on its implementation of the 13 recommendations.
- 5.113 Airservices provided a response to the Legislation Committee's request on 30 November 2018. The committee published Airservices' response and also brought it to the attention of Hobart 'submitters' in correspondence sent out in December 2018.
- 5.114 The committee continues to receive written material and submissions from residents regarding the impact of changes to the Hobart flight path.

Committee comment

- 5.115 As noted above, the committee undertook this inquiry into the Performance of Airservices Australia under Senate Standing Order 25(2)(a). The inquiry, which was initiated during the 44th Parliament, was subsequently re-adopted in the 45th Parliament, which reflects the fact that the committee's concerns regarding the probity of Airservices are long-standing.
- 5.116 As previously noted, the committee has long held concerns about the organisation's administration and governance, and the inquiry came about as a result of specific concerns in relation to the use of corporate credit cards. Historically, the committee has also asked questions of Airservices regarding termination payments paid to senior executives, community consultation and workplace and safety issues.
- 5.117 The committee explored a variety of issues during this inquiry. The primary focus of the committee's concerns, however, centred around:
- the issue of probity in relation to Airservices' procurement processes;
- the impact of the new Accelerate operating model on the Airservices workforce;
- the safety of Australia's passenger aircraft and air traffic control; and
- the implementation of the Automatic Dependent Surveillance Broadcast (ADS-B) system.
- 5.118 The committee's decision to refer its concerns about administration and corporate governance within Airservices, is evidence of just how seriously the committee takes these matters. The committee is pleased that by alerting the ANAO to these concerns, the ANAO initiated two performance audits and have published the results of its inquiries in two detailed reports.
- 5.119 The committee notes that Airservices has agreed to all six of the recommendations made in the ANAO's first report and has initiated actions to address each of the ANAO's recommendations. Airservices also acknowledged the issues raised in the ANAO's second report and agreed to take the matters raised into consideration, and incorporate them into future operations.

- 5.120 The committee is pleased to note that Airservices is also taking the issues raised by the ANAO seriously. The committee views Airservices Board's commissioning of Allens to undertake an external review of probity arrangements, and Airservices' pro-active response to the Allens report as a positive sign.
- 5.121 As noted above, during the course of this inquiry, additional issues such as workplace culture and the quality of community consultation have been raised with the committee. The committee notes, however, that it is satisfied that in relation to the issues that initially triggered the inquiry use of corporate credit cards, issues of probity in relation to the procurement process, the impact of the Accelerate program, and the implementation of the ADB-S system some positive progress has been made by Airservices to improve its performance.
- 5.122 The committee will, however, continue to maintain a watching brief in relation to Airservices, engage with Airservices' stakeholders and ask questions of Airservices in relation to its performance.

Senator Barry O'Sullivan Chair

Appendix 1

Documents tabled

Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities portfolio

Tabled Document No. 1: Infrastructure Priority List, tabled by Infrastructure Australia, on 18 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 2: Inland Rail: Narromine to Narrabri Preferred Corridor, tabled by Senator Glenn Sterle, on 18 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 3: Angel Flight – Flight Request Documents, tabled by Senator Rex Patrick, on 22 February 2019.

Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio

Tabled Document No. 1: Opening statement, tabled by Mr Daryl Quinliven, Secretary, Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 2: Budget 2018-19 Biosecurity Imports Levy, tabled by Senator Glenn Sterle, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 3: 'Changes by the Department'. Document obtained through a Senate Order regarding the *Independent Review of the Regulatory Capability and Culture of the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources in the Regulation of Live Animal Exports* conducted by Mr Philip Moss AM., tabled by Senator Mehreen Faruqi, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 4: Stakeholder Consultation on the Biosecurity Imports Levy, tabled by the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 5: Investigation review report, Document prepared for the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources by Mr John Lawler AM APM, 14 January 2019, tabled by the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 6: APVMA Property Process Timeline and Table, tabled by the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 7: Opening statement, tabled by Dr Chris Parker, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 8: Media release from the Hon David Littleproud MP, tabled by Senator the Hon Richard Colbeck, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 9: Commentary and Correspondence: Comments on the evidence for the recent claim on the state of Australian fish stocks, tabled by Senator the Hon Richard Colbeck, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 10: Opening statement, tabled by the Regional Investment Corporation, on 19 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 11: Tweet from Alan Kohler, tabled by Senator Rex Patrick, on 22 February 2019.

Cross-portfolio Murray-Darling Basin Plan matter

Tabled Document No. 1: Opening statement, tabled by Mr Daryl Quinliven, Secretary, Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, on 22 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 2: Opening statement, tabled by Mr Phillip Glyde, Chief Executive, Murray Darling Basin Authority, on 22 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 3: Water Amendment (Water for the Environment Special Account) Act 2013 Section 86AG, tabled by Senator Alex Gallacher, on 22 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 4: Efficiency Measures – Agreed Criteria, tabled by the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, on 22 February 2019.

Tabled Document No. 5: Media release from The Hon. David Littleproud MP, Minister for Agriculture and Water Resources, tabled by the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, on 22 February 2019.

Appendix 2

Additional Information received

Infrastructure and Regional Development portfolio

Correspondence received 22 February 2019 from Mr Mick Kinley, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Maritime Safety Authority, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 18 February 2019.

Correspondence received 28 February 2019 from Dr Steven Kennedy, Secretary, Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 18 February 2019.

Correspondence received 4 March 2019 from Mr Glenn Wood, Chief Fire Officer, Airservices Australia, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 18 February 2019.

Correspondence received 5 March 2019 from Dr Steven Kennedy, Secretary, Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 18 February 2019.

Correspondence received 8 March 2019 from Ms Christine Dacey, Executive Director, Territories Division, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 18 February 2019.

Correspondence received 15 March 2019 from Dr Steven Kennedy, Secretary, Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 18 February 2019.

Correspondence received 29 March 2019 from Mr Chris Monaghan, A/g Group Executive Manager – Aviation, Civil Aviation Safety Authority, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 18 February 2019.

Agriculture and Water Resources portfolio

Correspondence received 21 January 2019 from Ms Merryn West, A/g Assistant Secretary, Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, regarding the Agricultural Industry Advisory Council (AIAC) expenditure.

Correspondence received 28 February 2019 from Dr Chris Parker, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 19 February 2019.

Correspondence received 21 March 2019 from Mr Daryl Quinlivan, Secretary, Department of Agriculture and Water Resources, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 19 February 2019.

Cross Portfolio Murray Darling Basin Plan Matters

Correspondence received 7 March 2019 from Ms Diana Hallam, Executive Director, Drought Taskforce, Department of Infrastructure, Regional Development and Cities, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 22 February 2019.

Correspondence received 8 March 2019 from Mr Phillip Glyde, Chief Executive, Murray Darling Basin Authority, regarding the clarification of evidence given on 22 February 2019.

Appendix 3

Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) Report No. 1, 2016–17 – Recommendations

Recommendation 1: The ANAO recommends that Airservices Australia address systemic failures in the adherence to the organisation's procurement policies and procedures and the cultural underpinnings of those failures.

Recommendation 2: The ANAO recommends that Airservices Australia improve the value for money it obtains from major and strategic procurement activities by:

- (a) requiring that, except in genuinely rare circumstances, competitive procurement processes are to be employed;
- (b) on those rare occasions when competitive procurement processes have not been able to be employed:
 - ➤ documenting the reasons why a competitive approach was not employed;
 - ➤ benchmarking the quoted rates/fee and making records of the basis on which it was decided that the contracted rate/fee represented value for money; and
 - reporting any such instances to the Airservices Australia Board.

Recommendation 3: The ANAO recommends that Airservices Australia improve its procurement framework by including enhanced guidance in relation to:

- (a) the different roles performed by probity advisors and probity auditors;
- (b) determining the circumstances in which the engagement of an independent probity auditor would be appropriate; and
- (c) the manner in which such decisions are to be documented.

Recommendation 4: The ANAO recommends that Airservices Australia proactively manage probity in procurement activities by:

- (a) ensuring conflict of interest declarations are updated regularly or their ongoing currency confirmed;
- (b) reviewing existing declarations when the role being performed by an individual changes; and
- (c) regular review of program participants' reporting of contact with industry respondents in order to monitor compliance with reporting obligations.

Recommendation 5: The ANAO recommends that Airservices Australia's governance arrangements address:

- (a) whether individuals proposed to be employed in key probity management roles possess the understanding and capabilities required to undertake the role effectively; and
- (b) the appropriate separation of duties between key probity management roles associated with a procurement activity.

Recommendation 6: The ANAO recommends that Airservices Australia enhance its procedures for managing probity in procurement processes to require documented consideration of the potential for actual or perceived conflicts of interest to arise when engaging external contractors to participate in tender evaluations and contract negotiations and, where relevant, the management strategies are to be applied.

Appendix 4

Submissions received

Submission Number	Submitter			
1	Mr Scott Bennett, received 30 March 2015			
2	Mr Dick Smith, AC, received 17 August 2015			
3	Airservices Australia, received 4 September 2015			
4	Mr Robert Hamilton, received 16 October 2015			

Appendix 5

Public hearings and witnesses

Friday, 28 November 2014

- BARTON, Ms Mairi, Executive General Manager, Corporate and Industry Affairs, Airservices Australia
- BENNETTS, Ms Michelle, Executive General Manager, Aviation Rescue Fire Fighting, Airservices Australia
- CLARK, Mr Andrew, Chief Financial Officer, Airservices Australia
- HOOD, Mr Greg, Executive General Manager, Air Traffic Control, Airservices Australia
- RODWELL, Mr Mark, Executive General Manager, Projects and Engineering, Airservices Australia
- STAIB, Ms Margaret, Chief Executive Officer, Airservices Australia

Tuesday, 18 August 2015

- HARFIELD, Mr Jason, Acting Chief Executive Officer, Airservices Australia
- HOOD, Mr Greg, Executive General Manager ACT, Airservices Australia
- LOGAN, Mr Paul, Acting Chief Financial Officer, Airservices Australia
- SMITH, Mr Dick, Private capacity

Wednesday, 9 September 2015

- HARFIELD, Mr Jason, Acting Chief Executive Officer, Airservices Australia
- HOUSTON, Sir Allan (Angus), Chair, Airservices Australia
- LOGAN, Mr Paul, Acting Chief Financial Officer, Airservices Australia

Wednesday, 9 August 2017

- HOUSTON, Sir Allan (Angus), Chair, Airservices Australia
- MARCHANT, Mr David, Board Member, Airservices Australia
- ROTHWELL, Mr Tim, Board Member, and Chair, Board Audit and Risk Committee, Airservices Australia

Tuesday, 4 December 2018

- ANGUS, Mr Stephen, Executive General Manager, Air Navigation Services, Airservices Australia
- HARFIELD, Mr Jason, Chief Executive Officer, Airservices Australia
- WOOD, Mr Glen, Chief Fire Officer, Aviation Rescue Fire Fighting Services, Airservices Australia